ANTIOXIDANT AND ANTICHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITIES OF Ipomoea aquatica Forssk. AND Ipomoea reptans Poir

NUR HANIS SYUHADA BINTI MOHD ROSLI

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2019

ANTIOXIDANT AND ANTICHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITIES OF Ipomoea aquatica Forssk. AND Ipomoea reptans Poir

NUR HANIS SYUHADA BINTI MOHD ROSLI

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MASTER OF BIOTECHNOLOGY

INSTITUTE OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2019

UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate: NUR HANIS SYUHADA BINTI MOHD ROSLI

Matric No: SOC 170010

Name of Degree: MASTER OF SCIENCE (BIOTECHNOLOGY)

Title of Dissertation:

ANTIOXIDANT AND ANTICHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITIES OF *Ipomoea* aquatica Forssk. AND *Ipomoea reptans* Poir

Field of Study: **BIOCHEMISTRY**

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

ANTIOXIDANT AND ANTICHOLINESTERASE ACTIVITIES OF Ipomoea

aquatica Forssk. AND Ipomoea reptans Poir

ABSTRACT

Ipomoea is the largest genus from the Convolvulaceae family and known to possess various phytochemical compounds. In this study, the antioxidant and anticholineseterase activities of I. aquatica and I. reptans were investigated. I. aquatica and I. reptans are green leafy vegetables and have been utilized for centuries across cultures in managing diseases including in treating neuronal disease such as Alzheimer's disease (AD). In AD, improper cognitive function has been linked to irregular neuron transmission such as the aberrant activity of acetylcholinesterase enzyme and oxidative stress. Based on the experiments conducted, both plant extracts showed the presence of alkaloids, terpenoids, phenolic compounds and flavonoids. The DPPH scavenging assay showed the highest activity in I. aquatica leaf in methanolic extract (IA-LM) and I. aquatica stem in methanolic extract (IA-SM), indicating *I. aquatica* has greater scavenging and hydrogen donating ability compared to *I. reptans*. There was no correlation ($R^2 = -0.523$, P < 0.05) found between DPPH assay and TPC assay, infering that the phenolic compounds present in both plant extracts did not contribute to the scavenging activity observed. The ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) and ferrous ion, Fe²⁺ chelating assays showed a correlation with the TPC assay suggesting that the phenolic compounds have iron chelating abilities. However, both assays observed low values in all extract indicating that the phenolic compounds present have low reducing power and metal binding ability. The hydrogen peroxide, H_2O_2 scavenging assay displayed activities < 60 %. In the anticholinesterase assay, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitory activity was the highest in the chloroform extracts for both plant species, followed by methanol, distilled water and hexane extracts. A correlation with the TPC assay ($R^2 = 0.636$, P < 0.05) showed that the phenolic compounds present in I. aquatica and I. reptans have anticholinesterase activities. Therefore, it can be deduced that both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* have significant antioxidant and anticholinesterase activities.

Keywords: antioxidant, anticholinesterase, I. aquatica, I. reptans, phenolic compounds

AKTIVITI ANTIOKSIDA DAN ANTIKOLINESTERASE BAGI Ipomoea

aquatica Forssk. DAN Ipomoea reptans Poir

ABSTRAK

Ipomoea adalah merupakan genus terbesar daripada famili Convolvulaceae yang mempunyai banyak sebatian fotokimia yang berfaedah. Dalam kajian ini, kedua-dua aktiviti antioksida dan antikolinesterase bagi I. aquatica dan I. reptans dikenalpasti. I. *aquatica* dan *I. reptans* adalah merupakan sejenis sayuran berdaun hijau yang digunakan sebagai rawatan untuk pelbagai penyakit sejak dahulu lagi di seluruh dunia. Ini termasuk dalam mengubati penyakit saraf seperti penyakit Alzheimer. Penyakit Alzheimer berpunca daripada ketidakseimbangan dalam aktiviti enzim asetilkolinesterase and tekanan oksidatif yang mengakibatkan gangguan dalam daya kognitif pesakit. Berdasarkan eksperimen yang telah dilakukan, kesemua ekstrak I. aquatica dan I. reptans dilihat mempunyai alkaloid, terpenoid, sebatian fenol dan flavonoid. Ujian DPPH menunjukkan aktiviti yang paling tinggi dalam ekstrak daun *I. aquatica* di dalam metanol (IA-LM) and ekstrak batang I. aquatica di dalam metanol (IA-SM). Ini bermaksud I. aquatica adalah lebih baik dalam meneutralkan radikal DPPH dan dalam kebolehan menderma hidrogen berbanding *I. reptans*. Tiada korelasi antara ujian DPPH dan TPC $(R^2 = -0.523, P < 0.05)$ menunjukkan sebatian fenol di dalam ekstrak bagi kedua-dua jenis tumbuhan tidak menyumbang kepada aktiviti yang dilihat dalam ujian DPPH. Korelasi antara ujian FRAP dan pengkelat Fe²⁺ bersama TPC mencadangkan bahawa sebatian fenol menyumbang kepada aktiviti FRAP dan daya pengkelat Fe²⁺. Namun, aktiviti kesemua ekstrak I. aquatica dan I. reptans untuk ujian-ujian ini didapati rendah. Ini menunjukkan sebatian fenol dalam I. aquatica dan I. reptans mempunyai daya pengekelat logam yang rendah. Ujian hidrogen peroksida, H₂O₂ menyaksikan aktiviti < 60 % bagi semua ekstrak *I. aquatica* dan *I. reptans*. Ujian antikolinesterase mendedahkan aktiviti yang tertinggi dalam ekstrak kloroform bagi kedua-dua jenis tumbuhan, diikuti oleh metanol, air suling dan heksana. Korelasi antara ujian tersebut dengan ujian TPC (\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.636, P < 0.05) menunjukkan sebatian fenol dalam kedua-dua jenis tumbuhan mempunyai aktiviti antikolinesterase. Oleh itu, berdasarkan keputusan yang diperoleh, dapat disimpulkan bahawa kedua-dua *I. aquatica* dan *I. reptans* mempunyai aktiviti antioksida dan antikolinesterase.

Kata kunci: antioksida, antikolinesterase, I. aquatica, I. reptans, sebatian fenol

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On the very outset of this report, I would like to thank God for His grace, the spiritual enlightment and blessings in the flow of ideas throughout this dissertation writing process.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation for my supervisor, Associate Professor Dr. Jamaludin bin Mohamad for always giving me advices, support and patiently guiding me in writing the dissertation and accomplishing the research project. Also, I would like to give out my deepest gratitude towards my family for being supportive and encouraging in everything I do in my life, the never-ending motivation and continuously having faith in me.

To all the personnel at the Institute of Biological Sciences (ISB), laboratory assistants, my friends and all people that have contributed directly or indirectly towards the completion this dissertation, I wish to extend my heartfelt and profound gratitude towards them for helping me in the dissertation submission process, permitting the use of laboratory facilities, brainstorming ideas and the constant moral support. Without the support and encouragement, this research project would not have been successful.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS	STRACT	iii
ABS	STRAK	V
ACF	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	vii
TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST	T OF FIGURES	xi
LIST	T OF TABLES	• xii
LIST	T OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	XV
LIST	T OF APPENDICES	xviii
CHA	APTER 1 : INTRODUCTION	1
CHA	APTER 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1	Ipomoea	3
	2.1.1 Ipomoea aquatica Forssk. and Ipomea reptans Poir	3
	2.1.2 Phytochemical contents	6
	2.1.3 Applications	7
2.2	Alzheimer's disease (AD)	8
	2.2.1 The Free Radical Hypothesis	10
	2.2.2 The Cholinergic Hypothesis	11
	2.2.3 Treatments	13
	2.2.3.1 Antioxidants	13
	2.2.3.2 Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitor (AChEI)	14
CHA	APTER 3 : MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
3.1	Sample Collection	17
3.2	Chemical and Reagents	17
3.3	Apparatus	
		V111

3.4	Plant Extracts Preparation	18
3.5	Phytochemical Compound Identification	19
	3.5.1 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)	19
	3.5.2 Mass Spectrophotometry	21
	3.5.2.1 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS)	21
	3.5.2.2 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	22
3.6	Quantification of Phytochemical Compounds	23
	3.6.1 Total Phenol Contents (TPC)	23
	3.6.2 Total Flavonoid Contents (TFC)	23
3.7	Antioxidant Assays	24
	3.7.1 DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity Assay	24
	3.7.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay	25
	3.7.3 Ferrous Ion (Fe ²⁺) Chelating Activity Assay	25
	3.7.4 Hydrogen Peroxide (H ₂ O ₂) Scavenging Assay	26
3.8	Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitory Assay	26
3.9	Statistical Analysis	27
CHA	APTER 4 : RESULTS	29
4.1	Yield	29
4.2	Thin Layer Chromatography	30
4.3	Mass Spectrometry	59
	4.3.1 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS)	59
	4.3.2 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)	60
4.4	Total Phenol Content (TPC) and Total Flavonoid Content (TFC)	64
4.5	Antioxidant Assays	65
	4.5.1 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) Radical Scavenging Assay	65
	4.5.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay	67
	4.5.3 Ferrous Ion (Fe ²⁺) Chelating Activity Assay	68

	4.5.4 Hydrogen peroxide, H ₂ O ₂ scavenging assay	68					
4.6	Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitory Assay	70					
4.7	Pearson Correlation Coefficient (R ²) Analysis72						
CHA	APTER 5 : DISCUSSION	74					
5.1	Extraction of Plant Materials	74					
5.2	Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) Analysis	75					
5.3	Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS) and Gas						
	Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) Analyses	76					
5.4	Total Phenol Content (TPC) and Total Flavanoid Content (TFC) Assays						
	Analyses	78					
5.5	Antioxidant Analysis of Plant Extracts	79					
	5.5.1 2,2-Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) Assay Analysis	79					
	5.5.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay Analysis	80					
	5.5.3 Fe ²⁺ Chelating Assay Analysis	81					
	5.5.4 Hydrogen Peroxide Assay Analysis	83					
5.6	Anticholinesterase Assay Analysis	83					
CHA	APTER 6 : CONCLUSION	86					
CHA	APTER 7 : REFERENCES	87					
CHA	APTER 8 : APPENDIX	106					

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	:	Taxonomic hierarchy of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i>	3
Figure 2.2	:	The geographical distribution of <i>I. aquatica</i>	4
Figure 2.3	:	I. aquatica	5
Figure 2.4	:	I. aquatica seeds	5
Figure 2.5	:	I. reptans	5
Figure 2.6	:	I. reptans white flower	5
Figure 2.7	:	Alzheimer's disease prevalence worldwide	9
Figure 2.8	:	The hallmarks of AD	10
Figure 2.9	:	Projection of cholinergic transmission in the brain of normal and Alzheimer's brain	12
Figure 2.10	:	The factors contributing to the abnormalities in the cholinergic transport system in the brain	12
Figure 2.11	:	The cholinergic transmission at a neuronal junction	14
Figure 3.1	:	Calculation of the retention factor, R_f from the TLC plate	21
Figure 3.2	:	The summary on the methodology of the study	28
Figure 4.1	:	The TPC for <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extracts	64
Figure 4.2	:	The TFC for <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extracts	65
Figure 4.3	:	The DPPH scavenging assay for the extracts of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> at 800 µg/ml at 517 nm	66
Figure 4.4	:	The inhibition of FeCl ₂ by different extracts of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> at 100 μ g/ml at 562 nm	68
Figure 4.5	:	The H ₂ O ₂ scavenging activity by different extracts of <i>I</i> . <i>aquatica</i> and <i>I</i> . <i>reptans</i> at 100 μ g/ml at 230 nm	69
Figure 4.6	:	The inhibition of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> hexane extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm	70
Figure 4.7	:	The inhibition of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> chloroform extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm	71
Figure 4.8	:	The inhibition of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> methanolic extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm	71
Figure 4.9	:	The inhibition of <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> distilled water extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm.	72

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	:	Summary on the AChEI drugs	15
Table 3.1	:	The <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extracts prepared	19
Table 4.1	:	The yield (mg/g) for <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extract	29
Table 4.2	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf hexane (IA-LH) extract with chloroform solvent	31
Table 4.3	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem hexane (IA-SH) extract in chloroform solvent	32
Table 4.4	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf hexane extract (IR-LH) in chloroform solvent	33
Table 4.5	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem hexane (IR-SH) extract in chloroform solvent	34
Table 4.6	:	Thin layer chromatograhy (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf chloroform (IA-LC) extract in chloroform solvent	35
Table 4.7	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem chloroform (IA-SC) extract in chloroform solvent	36
Table 4.8	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf chloroform (IR-LC) extract in chloroform solvent	37
Table 4.9	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem chloroform (IR-SC) extract in chloroform solvent	38
Table 4.10	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf methanol (IA-LM) extract in chloroform solvent	39
Table 4.11	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem methanol (IA-SM) extract in chloroform solvent	40
Table 4.12	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf methanol (IR-LM) extract in chloroform solvent	41
Table 4.13	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem methanol (IR-SM) extract in chloroform solvent	42
Table 4.14	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf distilled water (IA-LD) extract in chloroform solvent	43
Table 4.15	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem distilled water (IA-SD) extract in chloroform solvent	43
Table 4.16	:	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf distilled water (IR-LD) extract in chloroform solvent	44

Table 4.17 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem distilled water (IR-SD) extract in chloroform solvent	44
Table 4.18 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf hexane (IA-LH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	45
Table 4.19 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem hexane (IA-SH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	46
Table 4.20 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf hexane (IR-LH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	47
Table 4.21 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem hexane (IR-SH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	48
Table 4.22 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf chloroform (IA-LC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	49
Table 4.23 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem chloroform (IA-SC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	50
Table 4.24 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf chloroform (IR-LC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	51
Table 4.25 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem chloroform (IR-SC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	52
Table 4.26 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf methanol (IA-LM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	53
Table 4.27 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem methanol (IA-SM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	54
Table 4.28 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf methanol (IR-LM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	55
Table 4.29 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem methanol (IR-SM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	56
Table 4.30 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf distilled water (IA-LD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	57
Table 4.31 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem distilled water (IA-SD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	57
Table 4.32 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf distilled water (IR-LD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	58
Table 4.33 :	Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for <i>I. reptans</i> stem distilled water (IR-SD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent	58
Table 4.34 :	The compounds detected in the LC-MS for the selected <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extracts	60

Table 4.35	:	The suggested GC-MS result for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf in methanolic (IA-LM) extract	61
Table 4.36	:	The suggested GC-MS result for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf in methanolic (IR-LM) extract	61
Table 4.37	:	The suggested GC-MS result for <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf in distilled water (IA-LD) extract	62
Table 4.38	:	The suggested GC-MS results for <i>I. aquatica</i> stem in distilled water (IA-SD) extract	63
Table 4.39	:	The suggested GC-MS result for <i>I. reptans</i> leaf in distilled water (IR-LD) extract	63
Table 4.40	:	The FRAP value for <i>I. aquatica</i> and <i>I. reptans</i> extracts	67
Table 4.41	:	The Pearson correlation coefficient test for all seven assays carried out.	73

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

\leq	:	Less than and equal
<	:	Less than
Aβ plagues	:	β-amyloid plagues
ACh	:	Acetylcholine
AChE	:	Acetylcholinesterase
AChEI	:	Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor
AD	:	Alzheimer's disease
Ca	:	Calcium
Cd	:	Cadmium
Cu	:	Copper
DPPH	:	2,2- diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
DTNB	:	5,5'-Dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid)
EDTA.Na ₂	:	Disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetate dihydrate disodium salt
Fe	:	Iron
Fe^{2+}	:	Ferrous ion
Fe ³⁺	:	Ferric ion
FeCl ₂	÷	Iron (II) chloride
FeCl ₃	:	Iron (III) chloride
FRAP	:	Ferric reducing antioxidant power
GAE	:	Gallic acid equivalent
GC-MS	:	Gas chromatography-mass spectrophotometry
H_2O_2	:	Hydrogen peroxide
Hb	:	Mercury
HC1	:	Hydrochloric acid
HPLC	:	High performance liquid chromatography

IA-L	:	I. aquatica leaf
IA-LC	:	I. aquatica leaf in chloroform extract
IA-LD	:	I. aquatica leaf in distilled water extract
IA-LH	:	I. aquatica leaf in hexane extract
IA-LM	:	I. aquatica leaf in methanolic extract
IA-S	:	I. aquatica stem
IA-SC	:	I. aquatica stem in chloroform extract
IA-SD	:	I. aquatica stem in distilled water extract
IA-SH	:	<i>I. aquatica</i> stem in hexane extract
IA-SM	:	<i>I. aquatica</i> stem in methanolic extract
IR-L	:	I. reptans leaf
IR-LC	:	I. reptans leaf in chloroform extract
IR-LD	:	I. reptans leaf in distilled water extract
IR-LH	:	I. reptans leaf in hexane extract
IR-LM	:	I. reptans leaf in methanolic extract
IR-S	:	I. reptans stem
IR-SC	:	I. reptans stem in chloroform extract
IR-SD	:	<i>I. reptans</i> stem in distilled water extract
IR-SH	:	I. reptans stem in hexane extract
IR-SM	:	I. reptans stem in methanolic extract
К	:	potassium
LC-MS	:	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrophotometry
Mg	:	Magnesium
MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ 0	:	Magnesium chloride hexahydrate
Mn	:	Manganese
MS	:	Mass spectrometer
NaCl	:	Sodium chloride

Ni	:	Nickel
NMDA	:	N-methyl-D-aspartate
Р	:	Phosphorus
Р	:	Probability
Pb	:	Lead
QE	:	Quercetin equivalent
R ²	:	Pearson correlation coefficient
\mathbf{R}_{f}	:	Retention factor
ROS	:	Reactive oxygen species
TFC	:	Total flavonoid contents
TLC	:	Thin layer chromatography
TPC	:	Total phenol content
TPTZ	:	2,4,6-Tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine
UV	:	Ultraviolet
Zn	:	Zinc

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A	. :	Thin layer chromatography	106
Appendix B	:	Total phenolic content (TPC)	111
Appendix C	:	Total flavonoid content (TFC)	111
Appendix D) :	Liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry (LC-MS)	112
Appendix E	:	Gas chromatography – mass spectrometry (GC-MS) spectra	117
Appendix F	:	DPPH scavenging assay	122
Appendix C	÷ :	FRAP assay	122
Appendix H	I :	Fe ²⁺ chelating assay	123
Appendix I	:	Hydrogen peroxide scavenging assay	123
Appendix J	:	Acetylcholinesterase assay	124
Appendix K	: 2	Reprint permissions for figures	124

CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION

Ipomoea aquatica or commonly known as water spinach and Ipomoea reptans are green leafy plants belong to the Convolvulaceae family (Prasad et al., 2008). They can be found distributed across the world, primarily in the tropical and subtropical regions (Umar et al., 2007; Prasad et al., 2008). Having both plants rich in nutrients such as carbohydrates, amino acids, antioxidants and vitamins, I. aquatica especially, has been utilized for various purposes since thousands of years ago (Prasad et al., 2008). These include as food, in traditional medicine and recently in bioremediation. In some traditional medicine practices, I. aquatica has been used to treat jaundice, nervous debility, liver and eye diseases, high blood pressure and constipation (Alkiyumi et al., 2012; Lawal et al., 2015; Malakar & Choudhury 2015; Dewanjee et al., 2015; The National Institutes of Health (NIH), 2016). Apart from that, recent studies have also discovered important bioactivity in I. aquatica which includes acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Dzoyem & Eloff 2015; Raghunath et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2018). However, a limited knowledge is known about the bioactivity and the utilization of *I. reptans* especially in treating diseases compared to I. aquatica. I. aquatica and I. reptans are also relatively cheap and easy to grow, making them suitable candidates to be utilized for the development of natural drugs to treat diseases.

AD is a disease associated with nervous debility, cognitive decline and memory impairment (Alzheimer's Association, 2015). Multiple causes have been implicated in the development of AD including oxidative stress and the deficiency in the cholinergic transmission in the brain (Dumont & Beal 2011; Hamulakova *et al.*, 2016). Till date, the primary treatment for the disease relies heavily on the use of drugs such as acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs). However, these drugs have been linked to numerous adverse side effects in patients (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2007; Hansen *et al.*, 2008;

Ali *et al.*, 2015; Gawad *et al.*, 2015; Greig 2015; Rang *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2016). This urge for an immediate attention into searching for alternatives in developing a safe and viable drug in mediating the disease.

Consequently, these have brought the attention on looking into natural products such as medicinal plants and herbs for the development of new drugs. Besides that, the low output of combinatorial chemistry and rational drug design and lack of access to conventional drugs have also pushed the interest in utilizing natural product for drug development (David *et al.*, 2015).

Provided the pronouced benefits and bioactivities in these plants and lack of research on the plants usage as drug candidates for the disease, this research can provide an additional insight and a better understanding on utilizing the plants for future prospects.

Therefore, the research objectives of this study are:

- i. To determine the phytochemical constituents in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*.
- ii. To determine the total phenol and flavonoid contents in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*, and
- iii. To evaluate the antioxidant and anticholinesterase activities of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*

CHAPTER 2 : LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Ipomoea

Ipomoea is the largest genus within the Convolvulaceae (morning glory) family with over 600 – 700 identified species including *Ipomoea aquatica* Forssk. *and I. reptans* Poir. (Austin & Huáman, 1996; Prasad *et al.*, 2008). The plant members of the species are twining or climbing woody or herbaceous plants, with usually heart-shaped leaves and large, showy, trumpet-shaped flowers of various colours including white, purple, blue, pink and red. (Galetto & Bernardello, 2004; Meira *et al.*, 2012). They are known to be rich in nutrients and minerals such as carotenoids, chlorophylls, essential amino acids, alkaloids, calcium, Ca, iron, Fe and magnesium, Mg (Meira *et al.*, 2012). Traditionally, this group of plant species has been used for nutritional, medicinal, ritual and also agricultural purposes (Meira *et al.*, 2012).

2.1.1 Ipomoea aquatica Forssk. and Ipomea reptans Poir

I. aquatica and I. reptans are a close relative within the genus. Figure 2.1 describes the taxonomic hierarchy between both plants.

Kingdom	Plantae	Plantae
Phylum	Tracheophyta	Tracheophyta
Class	Magnoliopsida	Magnoliopsida
Order	Solanales	Solanales
Family	Convulvulaceae	Convulvulaceae
Genus	Іротоеа	Іротоеа
Species	Ipomoea aquatica	Ipomoea reptans

Figure 2.1 : Taxonomic hierarchy of I. aquatica and I. reptans (Knees & Patzelt, 2013)

They can be found grown worldwide, usually in the tropical and subtropical regions including in countries such as Malaysia, Hongkong, Singapore, Indonesia, Cambodia, Laos, Vietnam, Africa, the United States of America, (USA) Central and South America and Australia (Umar *et al.*, 2007; Prasad *et al.*, 2008; Dewanjee *et al.*, 2017; CAB International, 2018). Figure 2.2 shows the worldwide distribution for *I. aquatica*.



Figure 2.2 : The geographical distribution of *I. aquatica* (CAB International, 2019). The red dots represent the distribution of *I. aquatica* in the world. Reprinted permission from www.cabi.org./isc.

I. aquatica and *I. reptans*, are aquatic or semi-aquatic, annual or perennial plants, grown wildly, on water surfaces such as rivers, freshwater lakes or ponds or on moist soils such as muddy banks (Prasad *et al.*, 2008; Saha *et al.*, 2008; Thi & Hwang, 2015; Lawal *et al.*, 2015; Gad *et al.*, 2017; Michigan State University, 2017). They are also commercially cultivated for consumption and can be eaten raw as salads, boiled, fried, steamed or pickled or made into fodder for animal consumptions (Malalavidhane *et al.*, 2000; Kim *et al.*, 2008; Thi & Hwang, 2015).

Morphologically, they differ slightly especially in the shape of the leaves and the colour of the flower. Figure 2.3 – 2.6 show the structure of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* including the flowers, leaves and seeds. *I. aquatica* has elliptic leaves, funnelform purple flower and trails above water surfaces (Austin, 2007; Prasad *et al.*, 2008). On the contrary, *I. reptans* has ovate-oblong leaves with white flower and grows upright on moist soils (UMass Center for Agriculture, Food and the Environment, 2016).





Figure 2.3 : *I. aquatica* (Bingham, *et al.*, 2019). Reprinted permission from www.zimbabweflora.co.zw.



Figure 2.5 : I. reptans.

Figure 2.4 : *I. aquatica* seeds (Scher , 2018). Reprinted permission from idtools.org.



Figure 2.6 : *I. reptans* white flower.

To accommodate the plants aquatic to semi-aquatic nature, both plants have hollow and smooth stems with rooting nodes, 'labyrinth seeds' and hairy fruit. *I. aquatica* can grow up to 9 to 70 feet long at 4 inches per day which results in its hollow stems forming networks, producing long stem and less branches to support its structure (UMass Center for Agriculture, Food and the Environment, 2016; Michigan State University, 2017). The labyrinth seed provides buoyancy for the plant, aids in supporting the structure and enables them to float on water surfaces (Austin, 2007). The fruit is protected inside a spherical capsule which turns woody upon maturation (Michigan State University, 2017). Both plants can be cultivated through direct seed germination or easily propagated from the cuttings of the plant (Prasad *et al.*, 2008; UMass Center for Agriculture, Food and the Environment, 2016). The optimal growth temperature for the cultivation is between 24°C to 29 °C and requires more water compared to other crops (UMass Center for Agriculture, Food and the Environment, 2016).

However, in the USA, *I. aquatica* is considered as a noxious weed as it competes with the existent native plants. *I. aquatica* may form networks which cover water surfaces thereby shading the underneath submerged plant (UF / IFAS Center for Aquatic and Invasive Plants, 2018). This poses threats to the vulnerable native plants and affect the ecosystem.

2.1.2 Phytochemical contents

I. aquatica and *I. reptans* contain numerous nutrients. Shim (2012) recorded that *I.aquatica* contain significant amounts of phytochemical compounds such as phytosterol, phenolic compounds, vitamin E, amino acids, sugar, sugar alcohol and fatty acids. Phenolic compounds include tannins, flavonoids, saponins, carotenes, organic acids such as malic acid and citric acid, quercetin, luteolin and alkaloids (Prasad *et al.*, 2008; Vasu *et al.*, 2009; Yadav & Agarwala, 2011; Lawal *et al.*, 2017). Umar *et al.* (2007) reported a substantial level of mineral elements in *I. aquatica* leaves such as potassium, K, sodium, Na, magnesium, Mg, calcium, Ca, iron, Fe and phosphorus, P. Nonetheless, *I. aquatica* has considerably low amount of copper, Cu, manganese, Mn and zinc, Zn (Umar *et al.*, 2007).

Similarly, Febriyono *et al.* (2017) and Jumaryatno *et al.* (2018) stated the presence of protein, carbohydrates, fatty acids, phenolic compounds, Ca, P, Fe, Na, vitamin A, vitamin B, vitamin C, 3-methoxy quercetin, 4-methoxy quercetin polyphenol, and anthocyanin in *I. reptans*. Another finding suggested the presence of α -tocopherol, β -carotene and ferulic acid in *I. reptans* (Ismail *et al.*, 2004).

Nonetheless, it should also be noted that, different developmental stages of the plants, cutting frequencies, growth conditions and processing methods such as ways of cooking

and drying procedures, might affect the plants level of phytochemical contents and minerals (Chitsa *et al.*, 2014, Sarkar *et al.*, 2014; Lawal *et al.*, 2015, Thi & Hwang, 2015).

2.1.3 Applications

The utilization of *I. aquatica* as traditional medicine has been documented back to 3000 years ago across different cultures. This includes in treating jaundice and nervous debility (Ayurveda), constipation, liver diseases, mental problems, abscesses and diabetes (Tanzania) and intestinal problem (Somalia) (Saha *et al.*, 2008; Malakar & Choudhury, 2015). Current researches on the plant have also revealed numerous bioactivities such as hypoglycaemic ability in reducing blood glucose level, good diuretic and cytoprotective abilities against heavy metal liver poisoning, antiproliferative, antimutagen and antitumour, antimicrobial properties, nootropic ability and antidepressant and antiepileptic activities (Malalavidhane *et al.*, 2000; 2001; Malalavidhane *et al.*, 2003; Saha *et al.*, 2008; Hamid *et al.*, 2011; Alkiyumi *et al.*, 2012; Dewanjee *et al.*, 2015; Dua *et al.*, 2015; Lawal *et al.*, 2015; 2017; Malakar & Choudhury, 2015; Dewanjee *et al.*, 2017; El-Sawi *et al.*, 2017).

However, the scientific research on the application of *I. reptans* in treating diseases is limited compared to *I. aquatica*. Nevertheless, Hayati *et al.* (2017) and Jumaryatno *et al.* (2018) had showed that *I. reptans* has antidiabetic properties. *I. reptans* has also been shown to be able to sequester heavy metals, similar to *I. aquatica* (Herliana *et al.*, 2018).

Due to the plants capability to take up heavy metals and toxic compounds, *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* have been considered for the use in phytoremediation. The plants are used as sequestering agents to take up heavy metals such as lead, Pb, Zn, and Cu from contaminated environment and as a biomonitoring agent to evaluate the safety of waterbodies (Chanu & Gupta, 2014; 2016; 2018; Ng *et al.*, 2016; Rane *et al.*, 2016; Herliana *et al.*, 2018).

However, as the plants are widely consumed, cautions should be given especially to those intended for human consumption. A proper management on the plants' farms and cultivation centres needs to be given to ensure the water used for irrigation is not contaminated with harmful substances. According to Saidin *et al.* (2018), *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* collected from local market in Singapore showed pronounced level of heavy metals including Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe and nickel, Ni. In Bangkok, Thailand, seven *I. aquatica* cultivation sites intended for local food market consumption sampled were found to contain comparable amounts of Pb, methylmercury, total mercury, Hb, and cadmium, Cd (Göthberg *et al.*, 2009). This poses a serious risk especially to infants and unborn babies as they are more susceptible to methylmercury poisoning (Göthberg *et al.*, 2009). The effects could be detrimental such as central nervous system damage, cerebral palsy, blindness and growth problems (Heller, 2017)

I. aquatica and *I. reptans* grown for phytoremediation in contaminated water such as wastewater should be handled with care to avoid human consumption. Control measures on the application of pesticides and fertilizers should be implemented to reduce the potential health risk and ensure safety upon human consumption of the plant (Saidin *et al.*, 2018).

2.2 Alzheimer's disease (AD)

Alzheimer's disease is an age-related, irreversible, progressive developing neurodegenerative disease associated with the deficits in cognitive skills among older generation (Niedowicz *et al.*, 2011; Begum *et al.*, 2015; Huang *et al.*, 2016). Affecting people with the age of 65 years of age and above, the disease is putting a high burden on the health sector and economically, as the older population expands (Niedowicz *et al.*, 2011). It is estimated that between 2018 and 2050, the cost for caring AD and dementia patients will be US\$ 20.2 trillion (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). In 2016, about 47

million people live with dementia and is estimated to rise to >131 million by 2050 (Prince *et al.*, 2016). East Asia has the highest prevalence of AD followed by Western Europe, South Asia and North America (Alzheimer's Research UK, 2018). Figure 2.7 shows the AD prevalence worldwide.



Figure 2.7 : Alzheimer's disease prevalence worldwide (Alzheimer's Research UK, 2018). Data adapted from Alzheimer's Research UK.

In AD, the areas of the brain that are involved in memory and cognitive learning such as the hippocampus, basal forebrain and cortex are primarily affected (Duan *et al.*, 2014). AD patients suffer from deficits in memory, language, problem solving and other cognitive skills which ultimately affect their ability to perform normal daily routines (Alzheimer's Association, 2015). AD is multifaceted and complex. Figure 2.8 characterized the underlying pathologies in AD patients' brain.



Figure 2.8 : The hallmarks of AD (Crews & Masliah, 2010; Ahmad *et al.*, 2015; Strac *et al.*, 2015). Data collected from multiple resources.

2.2.1 The Free Radical Hypothesis

Age is a key risk factor in the onset of AD (Practicò, 2008). As the age progresses, free radicals build up and accumulate in the body. Free radical hypothesis of aging states that the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) with age can cause irreversible damage and death to cell components such as the nucleus, mitochondrial DNA, membranes and cytoplasmic proteins (Christen, 2000). Neuron is prone to oxidative damage as it is rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids which makes it susceptible to free radical attack and due to the highly oxygen-rich environment in the brain (Christen, 2000; Aliev *et al.*, 2008). Besides that, certain areas of the brain which release neurotransmitters such as catecholamines are known to be predisposed to radical attack due to auto-oxidation (Aliev *et al.*, 2008). Fe, an essential component in carrying out metabolic processes, is also known to contribute to the formation of ROS (Aliev *et al.*, 2008)

Subsequently, accumulation of ROS leads to oxidative stress (Jiang *et al.*, 2016). Oxidative stress occurs due to the overproduction and uncontrolled production of ROS as a result from the inability of the body's natural protective mechanism to neutralize these reactive metabolites (Ahmad *et al.*, 2015; Jiang *et al.*, 2016; Rang *et al.*, 2016).

Multiple researches conducted at cellular level, on animal AD models and AD patients have suggested the occurrence of oxidative modifications such as oxidation of nucleic acid, proteins, lipid and macromolecules (Nunomura *et al.*, 2006; Feng & Wang, 2012). Consequently, this leads to the dysregulation and malfunctioning of mitochondria and increased in the ROS in the brain (Swerdlow & Kish, 2002; Wang *et al.*, 2014; Cardoso *et al.*, 2016; Gibson & Thakkar, 2017). Another hallmarks of AD, which is the deposition of A β plague has also been found to induce inflammation which increased the ROS production and causing neuronal death (Smith *et al.*, 2002; De Felice *et al.*, 2007).

2.2.2 The Cholinergic Hypothesis

Another cause underlying the development of AD is due to the depletion of cholinergic transmission in the brain. The brain cholinergic system comprises of complicated network of neurons with series of projections into different parts of the brain (Pepeu & Giovannini, 2017). They release acetylcholine (ACh) as neurotransmitter which may induce or alter the excitability of neurons and synaptic plasticity and transmission (Picciotto *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 2.9 : Projection of cholinergic transmission in the brain of normal and Alzheimer's brain. Blue line indicates normal projection of cholinergic transmission in parts of the brain. Red line indicates the degeneration in the cholinergic transmission in parts of the brain (Pepeu & Giovannini, 2017). Reprint permission from Elsevier.

The cholinergic hypothesis of AD proposed that the cognitive impairment observed in AD patients is linked to the degeneration in the cholinergic neurons and depletion in the neurotransmission in the cerebral cortex and other brain areas (Francis *et al.*, 1999). Figure 2.9 shows the areas of cholinergic transmission degeneration in the brain of AD patients. As ACh is involved in regulating memory processing and learning, abnormalities in the cholinergic transmission system have been associated with the onset of AD (Beninger *et al.*, 1989; Hasselmo & Bower, 1993; Francis, 2005). Figure 2.10 states the various factors that contribute to the impairment in the cholinergic transmission system in the brain.



Figure 2.10 : The factors contributing to the abnormalities in the cholinergic transport system in the brain (Terry & Buccafusco, 2003; Racchi *et al.*, 2004). Data collected from multiple resources.

2.2.3 Treatments

In treating AD, only two classes of drug have been approved by the Food, Drugs and Therapeutics (FDA) which are the acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs) and Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonists (Casey *et al.*, 2010). However, these drugs do not treat the underlying pathologies surrounding the progression of AD but rather, serve as a palliative treatment in alleviating the symptoms in AD patients (Kumar *et al.*, 2015). Hence, efforts have been done into looking for other potential therapies importantly, in utilizing natural sources as drugs.

2.2.3.1 Antioxidants

Provided the complex etiologies underlying the development of AD, it can be assumed that an antioxidant treatment alone does not suffice for the alleviation of the disease (Williams *et al.*, 2011). However, it was revealed based on several epidemiological studies that diet rich in antioxidants could delay the cognitive deficits suffered by AD patients (Williams *et al.*, 2011; Valls-Pedret *et al.*, 2015). Williams *et al.* (2011) suggested that a multi-targeted approach involving the combination of antioxidants and drugs or other phytochemical compounds could be employed in treating AD patients.

A few plants with high antioxidant activites have been shown to be potential sources for the treatment of AD. Fu *et al.* (2011) showed that three carotenoid; violaxanthine, lutein and β -carotene identified in *I. aquatica* showed high antioxidant activities. Sivaraman *et al.* (2016), revealed that the extract of *I. aquatica* improved cognitive behaviour, memory and neurotransmitter levels in Alzheimer's mice.

Besides that, *Curcuma longa* (turmeric) which contains curcumin has been shown to have anticancer, antioxidant, antiamyloid and anti-inflammatory properties (Obulesu & Rao, 2011). Similarly, *C. longa* has also been utilized in Ayurveda and widely studied for

its application in the treatment of AD (Lim *et al.*, 2001; Obulesu & Rao, 2011; Zhou *et al.*, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2013).

2.2.3.2 Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitor (AChEI)

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is a type of cholinesterase enzyme involved in the termination of nerve impulse at cholinergic terminal in the central and peripheral nervous system (Colovic *et al.*, 2013). It hydrolyses ACh into its constituents; acetate and choline, is highly specific and has a rapid catalytic activity (Dvir *et al.*, 2010; Colovic *et al.*, 2013). Figure 2.11 shows the cholinergic transport system at a neuronal junction.



Figure 2.11 : The cholinergic transmission at a neuronal junction (Gauthier, 2002). Reprint permission from Joule Inc.

Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor (AChEI) functions to increase the level of ACh in the cholinergic terminal by inhibiting the action of AChE. Consequently, neurotransmission in the nerve terminal is improved and cognitive functions are restored.

Although AChEIs are widely used in treating AD, they are highly associated with adverse side effects among AD patients (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2007). Table 2.1 describes the side effects associated with AChEI drugs.

Drugs	Properties	Side effects	Types of AD	Notes	References
Tacrine	Non- selective. Pseudo- irreversible	Nausea, diarrhoea, hepatotoxicity, abdominal pain, sweating, convulsion	Mild, moderate	Withdrawn from the US market	(Rang <i>et al.</i> , 2016; DrugBank, 2018)
Donepezil	Noncompeti tive, reversible, selective to CNS and AChE	Diarrhoea, dizziness, vomiting, weight loss	Mild, moderate, severe		(Hansen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2008; Jelic & Darreh- Shori, 2010; Greig, 2015; Rang <i>et al.</i> , 2016)
Rivastigmine	Noncompet- itive, pseudo- irreversible, selective to CNS	Acute cholinergic syndrome upon excessive exposure, death, falling, diarrhoea, dizziness, vomiting, weight loss, somnolence, hypertension, nausea, application site pruritus	Mild, moderate		(Hansen <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Ali <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Gawad <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Zhang <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Zhang <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Rang <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2017)
Galantamine	Competitive , reversible, non- selective, can bind to the allosteric sites of nicotinic receptors	Diarrhoea, dizziness, vomiting, weight loss	Mild, moderate	-	(Raskind <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Hansen <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Rang <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Drugbank, 2018)

 Table 2.1 : Summary on the AChEI drugs. Data collected from multiple resources.

Consequently, these have raised concerns and shifted the focus into searching for alternatives such as bioactive compounds from natural resources in developing a viable and safe drug. Multiple studies have shown several bioactive compounds found in plants that have anticholinesterase activity. These include phytochemical compounds such as alkaloids, terpenoids, flavonoids, rosmarinic acid, huperzine A, caffeic acid, tiliroside, phloroglucinol, curcumin and resveratrol (Williams *et al.*, 2011; Roseiro *et al.*, 2012; Gülçin *et al.*, 2016; Garcia *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, some of these plants have already been employed in traditional medicine to alleviate neurological diseases including *I. aquatica*. Dhanasekaran *et al.* (2015) displayed that *I. aquatica* in hydroalcholic extract exerted significant anticholinesterase activity. Through ligand docking studies, compounds such quercetin and chlorogenic acid present in *I. aquatica* were found to have a good affinity and binding score with AChE (Sivaraman *et al.*, 2014). Following another research conducted, a trial on animal model suggested that *I. aquatica* lowered AChE levels in the brain and mediated Aβ-induced cognitive and memory impairment (Sivaraman *et al.*, 2016). Curcumin and resveratrol have also been seen to have antiamyloidogenic properties in which they could lower the deposition of toxic Aβ plagues (Kim *et al.*, 2010).

CHAPTER 3 : MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Sample Collection

Two species from the *Ipomoea* genus; *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* were collected. Wild mature *I. aquatica* was collected at a clearing area next to the Kundang Lakes Country Club, Rawang, Selangor, Malaysia on February 2018 and mature *I. reptans* was bought from the Pasar Tani MAEPS Serdang, Seri Kembangan, Selangor. Both plants were collected and bought only once and were authenticated by Mr. Ghazali bin Sabda of Rimba Ilmu Botanical Garden, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur. The voucher specimens of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* plant samples were deposited in the Herbarium of University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur with a voucher number of KLU 49890 and KLU 49891 respectively.

3.2 Chemical and Reagents

2,2- diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH), 2,4,6-Tris(2-pyridyl)-s-triazine (TPTZ), 5,5'-Dithiobis(2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB), acetylcholinesterase, acetylthiocholine iodide, anisaldehyde, berberine, bovine serum albumin V, ferrozine, folin-ciocalteu's reagent, gallic acid, phenylalanine, potassium iodide, potassium phosphate monobasic, quercetin, sodium acetate, tannic acid, tris and vanillin were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, USA. Ascorbic acid, aluminum chloride, disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetate dihydrate (EDTA) disodium salt, hexane, hydrogen peroxide, magnesium chloride, potassium phosphate dibasic, sodium carbonate and sodium hydroxide were bought from Systerm Chemicals, Malaysia. Iron (III) chloride, methanol and sodium chloride were obtained from R & M Chemicals, Malaysia. 95% ethanol, bismuth nitrate hydrochloric acid and sodium nitrite were purchased from Merck, Germany. Chloroform and glacial acetic acid were bought from Fisher Scientific, USA. Ferrous sulphate was obtained from
Friendemann Schmidt, Australia and sulphuric acid was purchased from HmbG GmbH, Germany.

3.3 Apparatus

UV-Vis Spectrophotometer-1700 (Shimadzu, Japan), microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria), Agilent 6200 series TOF/ 6500 series (Agilent, USA), Agilent's Gas Chromatography with an MSD detector (Agilent, USA)

3.4 Plant Extracts Preparation

Both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* collected were washed and the leaves, stems, fruits, flowers and roots were separated. The plant parts were air dried at room temperature, under the shade for a week. After fully dried, the leaves and stems for both plants were ground using a blender into fine powder. The powdered plant parts were then subjected to chemical extraction with hexane, chloroform, methanol and distilled water in the order of increasing polarity consecutively. During each extraction, the extract was incubated in a water bath at 37 °C for 7 hours. Upon extraction, the filtrates were collected and concentrated up to 15 ml using rotary vacuum evaporator at 40 °C. Distilled water extracts were freeze dried at -100 °C. The extracts were then stored in air tight containers at 2 °C until further usage. A total of 16 different extracts were prepared as summarized in Table 3.1.

	Hexane extracts	Chloroform extrac	ts
IA-LH	: I. aquatica leaf	IA-LC : <i>I. aquatica</i>	leaf
IA-SH	: <i>I. aquatica</i> stem	IA-SC : I. aquatica	stem
IR-LH	: I. reptans leaf	IR-LC : <i>I. reptans</i> 1	eaf
IR-SH	: <i>I. reptans</i> stem	IR-SC : <i>I. reptans</i> s	tem
	Methanolic extracts	Distilled water extra	cts
IA-LM	: <i>I. aquatica</i> leaf	IA-LD : <i>I. aquatica</i>	leaf
IA-SM	: <i>I. aquatica</i> stem	IA-SD : I. aquatica	stem
IR-LM	: I. reptans leaf	IR-LD : I. reptans 1	eaf

Table 3.1 : The *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts prepared.

After chemical extraction was done, yield of each extract was determined. Extracts were dried thoroughly to remove excess moisture and solvent to obtain its dry weight. Yield for the extracts were calculated based on the following formula and expressed in mg/g of plant.

IR-SD

: *I. reptans* stem

$$Yield (mg/g) = \frac{Weight of dry extract (mg)}{Weight of plant (g)}$$
(3.1)

3.5 Phytochemical Compound Identification

3.5.1 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)

: *I. reptans* stem

IR-SM

All extract was subjected to thin layer chromatography (TLC) for the identification of the phytochemical compounds present. The experiment was done according to the protocol described by Kagan and Flythe (2014) with some modifications. Two solvents were used; chloroform and 10 % methanol. 10 % methanol was prepared by mixing

methanol and chloroform in 1:9 by volume. The solvent was poured 0.5 cm deep into a tank. On the TLC plate (20 cm \times 20 cm, thickness 1.5 mm, TLC Aluminium Silica Gel 60F₂₅₄ sheets), a baseline was drawn where each extract was spotted. The TLC plate was left inside the tank for a few minutes to allow the absorption of the solvent. Once the solvent had been absorbed by the TLC plate, the solvent front developed and observed bands were marked. The developed plates were subjected to UV light at 254 nm and sprayed with different reagents to allow the visualization of phytochemical compounds.

(a) Folin-Ciocalteu's Reagent Test

Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent was sprayed onto the developed plate to detect the presence of phenol compounds. Blue coloured bands formed indicated the presence of phenol.

(b) Vanillin-Sulphuric Acid Reagent Test

Vanillin-sulphuric acid reagent was prepared according to Matysik *et al.* (2016) with several modifications. 1 g of vanillin, 100 ml of ethanol and 10 ml of concentrated sulphuric acid were mixed to make the reagent. The developed plate was then sprayed with the reagent and heated at 120 °C for 3-5 minutes. Pink coloured bands formed showed the presence of terpenoid.

(c) Dragendorff's Reagent Test

Dragendorff's reagent was prepared by according to Mehrotra *et al.* (2011) with slight modifications. 1.7 g bismuth nitrate mixed 100 ml of distilled water and 16 g of potassium iodide dissolved in 40 ml of distilled water were prepared. 5 ml of bismuth nitrate solution, 5 ml of potassium iodide solution, 20 ml of acetic acid and 70 ml of distilled water were then mixed. The resulting reagent was then sprayed onto the developed plate to allow the observation of orange/ brown coloured bands for the presence of alkaloid.

Each band was then analyzed to determine their retention factor value, R_f . R_f allows the characterization of a compound based on the distance travelled by the spot compared to the distance travelled by the solvent. Determination of the R_f was done using the following formula (Nichols, 2018):



Figure 3.1 : Calculation of the retention factor, R_f from the TLC plate.

Retention factor, $R_f = \frac{\text{Distance travelled by the spot (a)}}{\text{Distance travelled by the solvent (b)}}$ (3.2)

3.5.2 Mass Spectrophotometry

Both liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) and gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS) were conducted to allow identification of the compounds present in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. Five extracts were selected for evaluation based on their performances in the antioxidant and anticholinesterase assays carried out. They were; (i) IA-LM, (ii) IR-LM, (iii) IA-LD, (iv) IA-SD and (v) IR-LD.

3.5.2.1 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS)

Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) was carried based on the procedure described by Mauri *et al.* (2006) with minor modifications. Samples were sent to Centre for Natural Products Research and Drug Discovery (CENAR), University

Malaya, Kuala Lumpur for processing. Analysis of the samples were performed by using Agilent 6200 series TOF/ 6500 series in a C18 Hypersil column (100 mm \times 3mm, 5 μ m). The eluents used were methanol and water. The gradients were established at 0-1 min at 30 % methanol, followed by 1-7 mins at 30 % to 45 % methanol and 7-5 mins at 45 % methanol. The flow rate was set at 0.55 ml/min with a volume of 50 μ l of extract per injection. Gallic acid, tannic acid, quercetin and phenylalanine were used as standards. A negative ion scan mode at m/z 200-700 was used to detect the presence of compounds.

3.5.2.2 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) was performed according to Prasad *et al.* (2005). The separation was carried out at the Nanotechnology and Catalysis Research Centre (NANOCAT) University Malaya, Kuala Lumpur using Agilent's Gas Chromatography with a MSD detector with DB624 capillary column ($60 \text{ m} \times 320 \text{ mm} \times 0.18 \text{ mm}$). Argon gas was used as a carrier gas at a flow rate of 2 ml/min . Temperature was set at 120 °C for 1 min, then increased and maintained up to 280 °C at a rate of 10 °C/min. The temperature for injection was 250 °C, detection at 260 °C, inlet at 300 °C, interface at 280 °C, ion source at 230 °C and quadrupole at 150 °C. Total running time was 40 mins. Injection was done at 1 μ L with a split ratio of 1:10.

3.6 Quantification of Phytochemical Compounds

3.6.1 Total Phenol Contents (TPC)

The total phenol content (TPC) of the extracts were determined by using Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent based on Alhakmani *et al.* (2014) with some modifications. Gallic acid at various concentrations (100 - 1000 mg/l) were used to construct a standard curve. 20 µl of extract dissolved in ethanol was mixed with 100 µl of Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent (diluted 10-fold with distilled water) in a 96-well plate and incubated for 5 minutes. Then, 75 µl of sodium carbonate solution (75 mg/ml) was added to the mixtures. The mixtures were incubated in darkness at room temperature for 2 hours before being measured using a microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria) at 700 nm. All test was done in triplicates (n=3). The concentration for each extract was determined from the linear equation of the gallic acid standard curve. The TPC of the extract is calculated by using the following formula.

$$C = \frac{c_1 \times V}{m} \tag{3.3}$$

Where C is TPC (mg GAE/g), C_1 is the concentration of gallic acid (mg/ml), V is the volume of extract (ml) and m is the mass of plant extract (g). Results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent per g of dry extract (mg GAE/g).

3.6.2 Total Flavonoid Contents (TFC)

The total flavonoid content (TFC) was determined by using aluminum colorimetry method as described by Do *et al.* (2014) with minor modifications. Quercetin at various concentration (100 – 1000 mg/l) was used to generate the standard calibration curve. 50 μ l of extract dissolved in ethanol, 15 μ l of sodium nitrite solution (5 % w/v) and 70 μ l of distilled water were mixed in a 96-well plate and incubated at room temperature for 5

mins. 15 μ l of aluminium chloride solution (10 % w/v) was added to the mixtures and incubated further for 6 mins at room temperature. 100 μ l of sodium hydroxide solution (1 M) was then added and the absorbance readings for the mixtures were taken at 510 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria). All test was done in triplicates (n=3). The concentration for each extract was determined from the linear equation of the quercetin standard curve. The TFC of the extract is calculated by using the following formula.

$$C = \frac{C_1 \times V}{m} \tag{3.3}$$

Where C is TFC (mg QE/g), C_1 is the concentration of quercetin (mg/ml), V is the volume of extract (ml) and m is the mass of plant extract (g). Results were expressed as mg quercetin equivalent per g of dry extract (mg QE/g).

3.7 Antioxidant Assays

3.7.1 DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity Assay

DPPH radical scavenging assay was carried out based on the protocol described by Do *et al.* (2014) with some modifications. A standard curve was constructed using ascorbic acid at different concentrations ($6.25 - 800 \mu g/ml$). Ascorbic acid was used as a positive control. 40 μ l of extract dissolved in methanol at different concentrations ($6.25 - 800 \mu g/ml$) and 200 μ l of DPPH solution in ethanol (50 μ M) were added in a 96-well plate and incubated in darkness at room temperature for 15 mins. Absorbance readings of the mixtures were taken using a microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria) at 517 nm. All test was carried out in triplicates (n=3). The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) for the extracts were determined.

The percentage of radical inhibition of each extracts was determined by using the following formula:

DPPH radical scavenging activity (%) = $\frac{A_{\text{control}} - A_{\text{sample/standard}}}{A_{\text{control}}} \times 100$ (3.4)

3.7.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay

Ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay was done based on the methods described by Zengin *et al.* (2015) with slight changes. Ferrous sulfate at various concentrations (0.125 - 1.0 mM) were used to construct a standard curve. Ferrous sulfate was used as a positive control. FRAP reagent was prepared by mixing FeCl₃ (20mM), TPTZ (10mM), and acetate buffer (0.3M, pH 3.6) in a 1:1:10 by volume. 20 µl of extract dissolved in methanol was mixed with 200 µl of FRAP reagent in a 96-well plate and incubated for 8 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance reading was carried out at 595 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria). All test was carried out in triplicates (n=3). FRAP value for each extract was determined from the linear equation of ferrous sulfate standard curve. Results were expressed as mmol of ferric ion, Fe³⁺ per g of dry extract (mmol Fe³⁺/ g).

3.7.3 Ferrous Ion (Fe²⁺) Chelating Activity Assay

The extracts ability to chelate Fe^{2+} was performed based on the methods described by Tohma *et al.* (2017) with some modifications. EDTA.Na₂ at different concentrations (12.5-100 µg/ml) were used to construct a standard calibration curve. EDTA.Na₂ was used as a positive control. 100 µl of extract dissolved in methanol at various concentrations (12.5-100 µg/ml), 10 µl of FeCl₂ (2 mM), 120 µl of distilled water and 100 µl of ferrozine (5 mM) were mixed in a 96-well plate and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance reading was taken for each extract at 562 nm using a microplate reader (Tecan Sunrise, Austria). All test was done in triplicates (n=3). The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC_{50}) for each extract was determined. The chelating activity of each extract was calculated based on the following formula:

Fe²⁺ chelating activity (%) =
$$\frac{A_{\text{control}} - A_{\text{sample/standard}}}{A_{\text{control}}} \times 100$$
 (3.5)

3.7.4 Hydrogen Peroxide (H₂O₂) Scavenging Assay

The ability of the extracts to scavenge hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was carried out based on the protocol described by Al-Amiery *et al.* (2015) with some modifications. Ascorbic acid at different concentrations ($6.25 - 100 \mu g/ml$) were used to construct a standard calibration curve. Ascorbic acid was used as a positive control. 0.1 ml of extract dissolved in methanol at various concentrations ($6.25 - 100 \mu g/ml$), 0.3 ml of phosphate buffer (50 mM) and 0.6 ml of H₂O₂ (2 mM) were mixed in a glass cuvette. The mixture was incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance reading was made at 230 nm using UV-Vis spectrophotometer-1700 (Shimadzu, Japan). All test was done in triplicates (n=3). The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) for each extract was determined. The H₂O₂ scavenging activity was calculated using the following formula:

$$H_2O_2$$
 scavenging activity (%) = $\frac{A_{control} - A_{sample/standard}}{A_{control}} \times 100$ (3.6)

3.8 Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitory Assay

The ability for the extracts to inhibit the activity of cholinesterase enzyme was performed based on the method described by Machado *et al.* (2015) with slight modifications. Berberine at various concentration range $(6.25 - 400 \ \mu\text{g/ml})$ was used to construct a standard calibration curve. Berberine was used as a positive control. Two solutions were prepared. Solution A: Tris/ HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 8) with bovine albumin

fraction V (0.1%) and solution B: Tris/ HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 8) with NaCl (0.1 M) and MgCl₂.6H₂0 (0.02 M). Ellman's reagent was prepared by mixing DTNB in solution B (3 μ M). Extracts dissolved in methanol were diluted with Tris/ HCl buffer into various concentrations (6.25 – 400 μ g/ml). To start the reaction, 25 μ l of acetylthiocholine iodide (15 μ M), 125 μ l of Ellman's reagent, 50 μ l of solution A, 25 μ l of extract and 25 μ l of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) (0.20 U/ml) were added into a 96-well plate. The mixtures were incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature. The absorbance reading was made at 405 nm. All test was done in triplicates (n=3). The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) for each extract was determined. The inhibitory activity of the extract determined by using the following formula:

Anticholinesterase activity (%) =
$$\frac{A_{control} - A_{sample/standard}}{A_{control}} \times 100$$
 (3.7)

Figure 3.2 shows the summary of the methodology of the study.

3.9 Statistical Analysis

All result was expressed as the mean \pm standard error (S.E.) for the seven independent experiments. Differences between extracts were analysed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Duncan's post hoc multiple comparison test at 5 % (P < 0.05). SPSS 25.0 version, Chicago, IL, USA was used to perform the whole tests.



Figure 3.2 : The summary on the methodology of the study.

CHAPTER 4 : RESULTS

4.1 Yield

I. aquatica and *I. reptans* were first separated into leaves, stems, flowers and roots. These parts were dried and finely ground to allow easier extraction and separation of the phytochemical compounds present in the plant. The plants were extracted using various solvents of different polarity, gradually starting from a non-polar solvent to polar solvents. Hexane, chloroform, methanol and distilled water were used as solvents. Only the leaves and stems of both plant species were used for this study as they are the edible parts of the plants.

Table 4.1 describes the yield for each of the extracts prepared in mg/g. From the table, it can be observed that the highest yield was obtained in the methanolic extracts for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. IR-SM (30.5 mg/g) had the highest yield, followed by IA-LM (21.0 mg/g) and IR-LM (19.7 mg/g). As methanol is polar and is effective at isolating phenolic compounds, more phenolic compounds could have been extracted in the methanolic extracts of both plants. Other extracts had lower yields (\leq 10.0 mg/g). *I. aquatica* had a lower yield compared to *I. reptans*.

Extract		Yield (mg/g) of extract in different solvent									
Extract	Hexane	Chloroform	Methanol	Distilled water							
IA-L	3.1	9.1	21.0	7.6							
IA-S	2.6	1.3	10.8	8.4							
IR-L	5.1	3.8	19.7	10.2							
IR-S	0.7	8.3	30.5	9.3							

Table 4.1 : The yield (mg/g) for all *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extract.

IA-L : I. aquatica leaf

IA-S : *I. aquatica* stem

IR-L : I. reptans leaf

IR-S : *I. reptans* stem

4.2 Thin Layer Chromatography

Thin layer chromatography was done as an early investigation to detect the presence of active natural compounds present in the extracts. Upon administration of different reagents, the presence of phytochemical compounds can be observed. Table 4.2 - 4.33 show the phytochemical compounds present in the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts in both chloroform and 10 % methanol solvents.

Observation under visible light for the all of the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* displayed green and yellow bands on the TLC plates while fluorescent red and blue bands were observed under the UV light. Some green and yellow bands fluoresced under the UV light.

Staining with Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent revealed dark-blue bands on a yellow-greenish background indicating the presence of phenol. Vanillin-sulphuric acid reagent produced pink, orange/ brown and green bands on a yellow background showing the presence of terpenoid, phenol, alkaloid and alcohol. Dragendorff's reagent showed orange/brown and green bands on an orange background denoting the presence alkaloid and phenol.

10 % methanol was found to be better at separating the phytochemical compounds present in both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. This indicates that a polar solvent is more suitable for the separation of phytochemical compounds in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. 10 % methanol also has a higher eluting strength compared to chloroform, making it more effective in separating phytochemical compounds of varying polarities. 10 % methanol was better at separating terpenoid and phenol.

More phytochemical compounds were detected in non-polar extracts compared to polar extracts for both plant species in both solvents. This shows that most of the phytochemical present in both plant extracts were non-polar, making it very soluble in non-polar extracts.

All reagents did not produce any visible stain in distilled water extracts.

Extract	Dand	р			Observat	ions		Pemarks
Extract	Band	K f	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff's	- Remarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> leaf hexane (IA-LH)	1	0.06	Green (+)	Red (+)	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	2	0.07	Yellow (+)	-	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	3	0.13	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	4	0.17	Yellow (++)	-	Blue (++)	-	-	Phenols
	5	0.28	Green (+)	Red (+++)	C - 🔪	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.34	Green (+)	Red (++)	-	-	Brown (+)	Alkaloids
	7	0.42	-	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	8	0.43	Green (+)	-	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	9	0.46	Yellow (+)	Red (++)	-	Brown (+++)	Brown (++)	Phenols
	10	0.48	Yellow (+)	Red (+++)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	11	0.50	-	Blue (+)	-	Orange (+)	-	Alkaloids
	12	0.58	-	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	13	0.58	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	-	-	Phenols
	14	0.68	Yellow (+)	Red (++)	Blue (++)	-	-	Phenols
	15	0.87		-	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	16	0.88	Yellow (+++)	Red (++)	Blue (+++)	Brown (+++)	-	Phenols

 Table 4.2 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf hexane (IA-LH) extract with chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	D .			Observat	ions		Domortza
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> stem hexane (IA-SH)	1	0.13	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	2	0.21	Green (+)	Red (++)	-	· -	-	-
	3	0.24	-	Red (+)	-	<u> </u>	-	-
	4	0.33	-	Red (+)		Brown (++)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.34	-	Blue (++)		-	-	-
	6	0.44	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	7	0.56	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	8	0.58	-	Red (+)	<u> </u>	-	-	-
	9	0.71	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	10	0.77	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	11	0.85	-	Blue (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	12	0.90	Yellow (+)	D -	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids

Table 4.3 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem hexane (IA-SH) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Band	р.			Observatio	ons		Domonta
Extract		Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. reptans</i> leaf hexane (IR-LH)	1	0.04	Green (++)	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	2	0.08	Green (+)	-	-	-	-	Chlorophyll
	3	0.09	Yellow (++)	Red (+++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.15	Green (+)	Red (+++)		Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.25	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	6	0.25	Green (+)	-	-	-	-	Chlorophyll
	7	0.30	Green (+)	-		-	-	Chlorophyll
	8	0.33	-	-	-	Brown (++)	-	Terpenoids
	9	0.38	-	Blue (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	10	0.40	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.48	Yellow (+)	-	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	12	0.53	Yellow (+)	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.56	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	14	0.69		Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	15	0.70	Yellow (+)	-	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	16	0.79		Blue (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	17	0.89	Yellow (+++)	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	Phenols

 Table 4.4 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf hexane (IR-LH) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Band	р.	Observations					
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. reptans</i> stem hexane (IR-SH)	1	0.09	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	2	0.12	Yellow (+)	-	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.15	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.33	-	-		Brown (++)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.42	-	Blue (++)		-	-	-
	6	0.90	Yellow (++)	-	-	-	Brown (++)	Alkaloids

Table 4.5 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem hexane (IR-SH) extract in chloroform solvent.

					Observations			
Extract	Band	\mathbf{R}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin- sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks
I. aquatica	1	0.06	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
leaf	2	0.11	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	Green (+)	Alcohols
chloroform	3	0.12	-	-		Orange (+++)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-LC)	4	0.13	Yellow (++)	Red (++)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	Green (+++)	Alcohols
	5	0.16	-	-		Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.18	Green (++)	Blue (++)	-	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
	7	0.21	Green (+++)	Red (++)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
	8	0.22	Yellow (+++)	Red (+++)	-	Pink (+)	Green (++)	Phenols
	9	0.26	Green (+)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	-	Brown (+)	Phenols
	10	0.42	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	11	0.42	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.43	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+++)	-	Brown (+++)	Phenols
	13	0.48	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	-	Green (+++)	Phenols
	14	0.52	Yellow (+)	-	-	-	-	Xanthophylls
	15	0.60		Red (++)	-	-	Green (+++)	Phenols
	16	0.71		Blue (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	17	0.72	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	-	-	Green (++)	Phenols
	18	0.82	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	Brown (+)	Terpenoids
	19	0.83	Yellow (+++)	Blue (+)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols

Table 4.6 : Thin layer chromatograhy (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf chloroform (IA-LC) extract in chloroform solvent.

					Observations			
Extract	Band	\mathbf{R}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin- Ciocalteu	Vanillin- sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks
I. aquatica	1	0.07	-	Blue (++)	Blue (+)	Pink (+)	-	Phenols
stem	2	0.09	Yellow (+)	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
chloroform	3	0.12	-	-	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-SC)	4	0.12	Yellow (+)	Blue (+++)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	5	0.22	Yellow (+)	_		-	-	Xanthophylls
	6	0.25	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	7	0.30	Green (+)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	Green (+)	-	Alcohols
	8	0.50	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	-	Brown (+)	Phenols
	9	0.64	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	10	0.79	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.7 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem chloroform (IA-SC) extract in chloroform solvent.

					Observations			
Extract	Band	\mathbf{R}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin- Ciocalteu	Vanillin- sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks
I. reptans	1	0.09	Yellow (+)	-	-		-	Xanthophyll
leaf	2	0.11	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
chloroform	3	0.11	Yellow (+++)	Red (+)	Blue (++)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
(IK-LC)	4	0.12	-	-		Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.13	-	Red (+)		Green (+)	-	Alcohols
	6	0.14	Green (+)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
	7	0.15	Yellow (++)	-	-	-	Green (++)	Alkaloids
	8	0.23	Green (+)	Blue (+)	_	-	-	-
	9	0.27	Green (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	10	0.29	Yellow (+)	-	-	-	-	Xanthophyll
	11	0.35	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.35	Green (+)	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.41	Green (+)	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	14	0.46	Green (+)	Red (++)	Blue (+++)	-	-	Phenols
	15	0.49		Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	16	0.58	Green (+++)	Red (++)	-	-	Brown (++)	Alkaloids
	17	0.63	<u> </u>	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	18	0.73	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	19	0.87	Yellow (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	20	0.94	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-

 Table 4.8 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf chloroform (IR-LC) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	1 Rc			Observat	ions		Domonta
Extract	Dana	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. reptans</i> stem chloroform	1	0.03	-	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IR-SC)	2	0.04	-	Blue (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.11	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	Green (+)	-	Alcohols
	4	0.12	-	-	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.14	-	Red (+)		-	-	-
	6	0.18	Green (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	7	0.19	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	8	0.21	-	Red (++)	·	-	-	-
	9	0.35	Green (+)	Red (+)	-	Green (++)	-	Alcohols
	10	0.38	Green (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	11	0.43	Green (+)	Red (+)	Blue (++)	-	-	Phenols
	12	0.70	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	-	Brown (+)	Alkaloids
	13	0.71	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	14	0.77		Red (++)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.9 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem chloroform (IR-SC) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extroat	Dand	р.			Observati	ons		– Remarks
Extract	Band	\mathbf{K}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
I. aquatica leaf methanol	1	0.04	-	Red (+)	-	Brown (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-LM)	2	0.06	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.10	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.13	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.14	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	-	-
	6	0.25	-	Red (+)	<u> </u>	-	-	-
	7	0.30	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	8	0.40	-	Blue (+)	O -	-	-	-
	9	0.43	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
Colour intensity: (+) weak, (+	++) mod	lerate, (-	+++) strong, (-)	absent				

Table 4.10 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf methanol (IA-LM) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.	Observations					
Extract	Dallu	Nf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	- Kelliarks
I. aquatica stem methanol	1	0.07	-	Blue (++)	-		-	-
(IA-SM)	2	0.19	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.21	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	4	0.24	-	Red (+)	-	<u>-</u>	-	-
	5	0.25	-	Red (+)		-	-	-
	6	0.57	-	Red (++)		-	-	-

Table 4.11 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem methanol (IA-SM) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.			Observat	ions		Remarks
Extract	Danu	\mathbf{K}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	-
<i>I. reptans</i> leaf methanol (IR-LM)	1	0.03	-	Red (++)	-	<u> </u>	-	-
	2	0.06	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.08	-	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	4	0.12	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.13	Green (+)	Red (+++)	C - 🔪	-	-	-
	6	0.14	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	7	0.15	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	8	0.24	Yellow (+)	Red (+++)	_	-	-	-
	9	0.24	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	-	Brown (++)	Alkaloids
	10	0.25	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	11	0.33	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.37	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.38	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	14	0.47	- ()	Red (+)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.12 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf methanol (IR-LM) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.	Observations						
EXIIACI	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	- Kelliarks	
I. reptans stem methanol	1	0.06	-	Blue (+)	-		-	-	
(IR-SM)	2	0.11	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	3	0.14	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	4	0.15	-	Red (+)	-	<u>-</u>	-	-	

Table 4.13 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem methanol (IR-SM) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.		Observations			Domorto	
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> leaf distilled water (IA-LD)	1	0.07	-	Blue (+)	-	$\langle O \rangle$	-	-
	2	0.21	-	Blue (+)	- 7	-	-	-

Table 4.14 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf distilled water (IA-LD) extract in chloroform solvent.

Table 4.15 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem distilled water (IA-SD) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extra at	Dand	п	Observations						
Extract	Band	\mathbf{K}_{f}	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks	
<i>I. aquatica</i> stem distilled water (IA-SD)	1	0.09	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-	
	2	0.18	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	-	-	

Extract	Dand	р.	Descriptions Observations		tions		Domonto	
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	- Kelliarks
I. reptans leaf distilled water (IR-LD)	1	0.07	-	Blue (+)	-	<u>X0 :</u>	-	-

Table 4.16 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf distilled water (IR-LD) extract in chloroform solvent.

Table 4.17 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem distilled water (IR-SD) extract in chloroform solvent.

Extract	Dand	D			Observati	ons		Domontra
Extract	Band	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	- Kemarks
<i>I. reptans</i> stem distilled water (IR-SD)	1	0.12	-	Blue (+)	0	-	-	-

Extract	Dand	Р.			Observatio	ons		Domontra
Exuact	Dallu	К f	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> leaf hexane (IA-LH)	1	0.10	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	2	0.15	-	Blue (+)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.16	Green (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	4	0.20	-	Red (+)		Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.27	-	Blue (+)	<u> </u>	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.28	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	7	0.33	Green (+)	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	Brown (+)	Terpenoids
	8	0.40	-	Red (+)	_	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	9	0.45	Green (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	10	0.46	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.52	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.60	Green (+)		-	-	-	Chlorophyll
	13	0.60	Yellow (++)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-
	14	0.64	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	15	0.68	Yellow (++)	-	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	16	0.72	Yellow (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	17	0.74	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	18	0.82	Yellow (++)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	Pink (+++)	-	Phenols
	19	0.89	Yellow (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+++)	Pink (++)	Green (+++)	Phenols
	20	0.93	-	blue (+++)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.18 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf hexane (IA-LH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	D			Observat	ions		Domontra
EXITACI	Dand	K _f	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
I. aquatica stem hexane	1	0.21	-	Blue (+)	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-SH)	2	0.30	-	Red (+)	-	Orange (+)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	3	0.31	-	Blue (+)	-	Orange (+)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	4	0.37	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.47	-	Red (++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.49	-	Blue (+)	<u> </u>	-	-	-
	7	0.62	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	8	0.68	Yellow (+)	-		-	-	Xanthophylls
	9	0.88	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	10	0.92	Yellow (+)	Red (++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.93	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.19 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem hexane (IA-SH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.			Observatio	ons		- Remarks
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
I. reptans leaf hexane	1	0.09	-	Red (++)	-		-	-
(IR-LH)	2	0.20	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.38	-	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.42	Green (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.43	-	Red (+)		Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.49	-	-	<u> </u>	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	7	0.55	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	8	0.62	-	Red (+)	<u> </u>	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	9	0.63	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	10	0.66	Yellow (+)		-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.74	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	12	0.75	-	-	-	Orange (++)	-	Terpenoids
	13	0.82	Yellow (+)	Red (+++)	-	-	Brown (++)	Alkaloids
	14	0.86	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	15	0.89	Yellow (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+++)	Pink (+++)	-	Phenols
	16	0.91	•	blue (+++)	Blue (+++)	-	-	Phenols

Table 4.20 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf hexane (IR-LH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	р.			Observati	ons		Domonta
Exuact	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	ndorff Remarks Xanthophylls Terpenoids Terpenoids Terpenoids Terpenoids Terpenoids
<i>I. reptans</i> stem hexane (IR-SH)	1	0.65	Yellow (+)	-	-	20,	-	Xanthophylls
	2	0.75	-	-	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.82	-	Red (+)	-	<u> </u>	-	-
	4	0.87	-	Blue (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.89	-	Red (+)	E N	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	6	0.92	Yellow (+)	blue (+++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids

Table 4.21 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem hexane (IR-SH) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dond	р.			Observati	ions		Domorto
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
I. aquatica leaf chloroform	1	0.14	-	-	-	Orange (++)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-LC)	2	0.15	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (++)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	3	0.20	Green (+)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (+++)	Green (+)	Phenols
	4	0.23	Green (+)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (++)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	5	0.32	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (+++)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	6	0.37	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (+++)	-	Phenols
	7	0.41	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	8	0.42	Green (++)	Red (+++)	O -	-	Brown (+)	Alkaloids
	9	0.45	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Brown (+++)	++	Phenols
	10	0.58	-	Blue (+++)	Blue (+)	Pink (+++)	-	Phenols
	11	0.61	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.61	Yellow (++)		Blue (+++)	Blue (+++)	Green (+++)	Phenols
	13	0.61	-	Red (+)	Blue (+)	Brown (+++)	-	Phenols
	14	0.76	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+)	Green (+++)	-	Alcohols
	15	0.85	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+++)	Green (+++)	Green (+++)	Alcohols

Table 4.22 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf chloroform (IA-LC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	Р.			Observati	ons		Domorka
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kennarks
I. aquatica stem chloroform	1	0.17	-	Blue (+)	-		-	-
(IA-SC)	2	0.21	-	-	-	Orange (++)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.29	Green (+)	Red (+++)	Blue (+)	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.39	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.42	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	6	0.44	-	-	<u> </u>	Brown (++)	-	Terpenoids
	7	0.44	Green (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	8	0.54	-	Blue (+++)	O -	-	-	-
	9	0.56	Green (+)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	Brown (++)	Brown (+)	Phenols
	10	0.62	-	Blue (+++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.68	Yellow (+)		-	Blue (+)	-	Alcohols
	12	0.70	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.81			-	Brown (++)	-	Terpenoids
	14	0.91	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	Green (++)	Brown (++)	Alcohols

Table 4.23 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem chloroform (IA-SC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Band	R _f	Observations					
Extract			Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	NCIIIaI KS
I. reptans leaf chloroform	1	0.12	-	Red (+)	-		-	-
(IR-LC)	2	0.19	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.28	Green (+++)	Red (++)	Blue (+)	-	Brown (+)	Phenols
	4	0.28	-	Red (+)	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	5	0.33	Yellow (+)	-	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	6	0.34	Green (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	7	0.39	Green (+)	Red (+)	Blue (++)	-	-	Phenols
	8	0.46	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+)	Pink (++)	Brown (++)	Phenols
	9	0.48	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	10	0.49	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	11	0.52	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.55	Green (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.55	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	14	0.63	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	15	0.64	Yellow (++)	-	Blue (++)	Blue (+++)	Green (+)	Phenols
	16	0.66	+	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	17	0.76	Yellow (+)	Red (++)	-	Brown (+)	-	Terpenoids
	18	0.76	<u> </u>	Red (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	19	0.83	Green (+)	-	Blue (+)	-	-	Phenols
	20	0.91	Green (+++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+++)	Green (+++)	Brown (+++)	Alcohols

Table 4.24 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf chloroform (IR-LC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Band	R _f	Observations					
			Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
I. reptans stem chloroform	1	0.26	-	Red (++)	-		-	-
(IR-SC)	2	0.29	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.30	-	-	-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.30	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.44	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	6	0.44	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	7	0.52	-	Blue (++)		-	-	-
	8	0.54	Yellow (+)	-	O -	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	9	0.61	Green (+)	-	-	-	-	Chlorophylls
	10	0.62	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	11	0.67	Yellow (++)	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.72	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	13	0.81	-		-	Orange (+)	-	Terpenoids
	14	0.81	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-
	15	0.92	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (++)	-	Brown (++)	Phenols

 Table 4.25 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem chloroform (IR-SC) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Band	R _f	Observations					
			Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> leaf methanol	1	0.07	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-LM)	2	0.07	-	-	Blue (+++)		-	Phenols
	3	0.09	-	Blue (+++)	-	Pink (+++)	-	Terpenoids
	4	0.10	Green (+)	Blue (+)	-	- U	-	-
	5	0.12	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	6	0.16	Yellow (+)	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	7	0.24	-	Red (+)		-	-	-
	8	0.28	Yellow (++)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	9	0.36	Green (+)	Red (++)	(-)	-	-	-
	10	0.37	-	Red (+)	_	-	-	-
	11	0.43	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	12	0.47	Yellow (+)	-	-	-	-	Xanthophylls
	13	0.50	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	14	0.55	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	15	0.55	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	16	0.57	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	17	0.59	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	18	0.61	Yellow (+)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	19	0.65	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-
	20	0.69	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	21	0.85	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-
	22	0.91	Green (++)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-
	23	0.94	Yellow (++)	Red (+)	-	-	-	-

 Table 4.26 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf methanol (IA-LM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.
Extract	Dand	R _f	Observations					
EXUACI	Daliu		Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks
<i>I. aquatica</i> stem methanol	1	0.10	-	Blue (+++)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
(IA-SM) 2	2	0.28	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	3	0.57	-	Blue (++)	-	<u>-</u>	-	-
	4	0.65	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.73	-	Blue (+)		-	-	-
	6	0.93	Green (+)	Red (+++)		-	-	-
	7	0.97	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.27 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem methanol (IA-SM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Band	R	Observations						
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kelliarks	
I. reptans leaf methanol	1	0.05	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids	
(IR-LM)	2	0.07	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	3	0.08	-	Blue (++)	-	Pink (++)	-	Terpenoids	
	4	0.12	-	Red (+)	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids	
	5	0.15	-	Blue (+)	-			-	
	6	0.20	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	7	0.23	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	8	0.28	Green (+)	Red (+++)		-	-	-	
	9	0.39	-	Red (++)	-	-	-	-	
	10	0.40	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-	
	11	0.43	Green (+)	Red (+++)	-	-	-	-	
	12	0.51	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-	
	13	0.56	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	14	0.56	- 0	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-	
	15	0.64		Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	16	0.66	+	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	17	0.76	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	18	0.84	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	
	19	0.94	Green (++)	Red (+++)	Blue (+)	-	Brown (+)	Phenols	

Table 4.28 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf methanol (IR-LM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extroat	Dand	R _f			Domonta			
Extract	Dallu		Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kennarks
I. reptans stem methanol	1	0.07	-	Blue (+++)	-		-	-
(IR-SM)	2	0.19	-	-	-	Pink (+)	-	Terpenoids
	3	0.39	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	4	0.49	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	5	0.55	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-
	6	0.92	-	Red (+)	<u> </u>	-	-	-

Table 4.29 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem methanol (IR-SM) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dond	р.	Observations					
Extract	Dallu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Kemarks
I. aquatica leaf distilled water	1	0.45	-	Blue (+)	-		-	-
(IA-LD)	2	0.52	-	Blue (+)	-	-	-	-

Table 4.30 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* leaf distilled water (IA-LD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Table 4.31 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. aquatica* stem distilled water (IA-SD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	Rf		Observations					
EXIFACT	Band		Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks	
<i>I. aquatica</i> stem distilled water	1	0.04	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-	
(IA-SD)	2	0.48	-	Blue (++)	-	-	-	-	
	3	0.58	-	Blue (+++)	-	-	-	-	
	4	0.92	-	Red (+)	-	-	-	-	

Extract	Dand	Р.			Observati	ns		Domortes
Extract	Daliu	Кf	Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	- Keillaiks
I. reptans leaf distilled water	1	0.07	-	Blue (+++)	-		-	-
(IR-LD)	2	0.97	-	Red (+)	- 0	-	-	-

Table 4.32 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* leaf distilled water (IR-LD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Table 4.33 : Thin layer chromatography (TLC) profile for *I. reptans* stem distilled water (IR-SD) extract in 10 % methanol solvent.

Extract	Dand	R _f	Observations					
	Danu		Visible light	UV light	Folin-Ciocalteu	Vanillin-sulphuric acid	Dragendorff	Remarks
<i>I. reptans</i> stem distilled water (IR-SD)	-	-	-	-		-	-	-

4.3 Mass Spectrometry

4.3.1 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS)

The liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) analysis was performed to detect the presence of quercetin, tannic acid, gallic acid and phenylalanine in the selected *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. The extracts were run against these standards and the concentration of each compound detected was calculated. Table 4.34 describes the concentration of the compounds detected in each of the extract sample analysed.

It can be seen that in all five extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*, there were negligible traces of gallic acid. Varying amount of quercetin and phenylalanine detected in the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts sent indicated that between plant species and parts of plant, there was a difference in the level of these compounds. Quercetin (13.36 mg/ml) and phenylalanine (25.95 mg/ml) were the highest in IA-LM. Higher level of quercetin and phenylalanine seen showed that methanol was more effective in extracting these compounds compared to distilled water. Methanol is known to be effective in dissolving sugar, amino acids, glycoside compounds and phenolic compounds with low and medium molecular weight and of medium polarity (Widyawati *et al.*, 2014). Besides, methanol is amphiphilic thus it is better at extracting polar and non-polar compounds such as flavanoid and phenylalanine.

The highest concentration of tannic acid (1.25 mg/ml) can be observed in IA-LD. The IA-LD had a higher concentration of quercetin (10.31 vs 1.46 mg/ml) and phenylalanine (20.01 vs 2.84 mg/ml) compared to IA-SD. This indicates that leaf extract in distilled water of *I. aquatica* had a higher level of quercetin and phenylalanine compared to the stem extract in distilled water of *I. aquatica*. IA-LM showed higher concentration of quercetin (13.36 vs 5.80 mg/ml) and phenylalanine (25.95 vs 11.25 mg/ml) compared to IR-LM while tannic acid remained similar in concentration. This shows that quercetin

and phenyalanine were higher in the methanolic leaf extract of *I. aquatica* compared to *I.*

reptans.

Extract	Concentration (mg/ml)							
LAUatt	Quercetin	Tannic acid	Gallic acid	Phenylalanine				
IA-LM	13.36	0.68	N/A	25.95				
IR-LM	5.80	0.68	N/A	11.25				
IA-LD	10.31	1.25	N/A	20.01				
IA-SD	1.46	0.93	N/A	2.84				
IR-LD	7.44	0.17	N/A	14.44				

Table 4.34 : The compounds detected in the LC-MS for the selected *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. N/A indicates a negligible concentration.

IA-LM : *I. aquatica* leaf extract in methanol

IR-LM : I. reptans leaf extract in methanol

IA-LD : *I. aquatica* leaf extract in distilled water

IA-SD : I. aquatica stem extract in distilled water

IR-LD : *I. reptans* leaf extract in distilled water

4.3.2 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)

The gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) performed suggested the presence of phenolic compounds, alkaloids, terpenes, sterol, esters, polyols, organic acids and fatty acids in all IA-LM, IR-LM, IA-LD, IA-SD and IR-LD. Among these compounds, more alkaloids and ester were detected. A greater level of phytochemical compounds were observed in *I. aquatica* compared to *I. reptans*. The IA-LD was shown to have a lower level of phytochemical compounds compared to IA-SD. This indicates that the stem extract in distilled water of *I. aquatica* contains more phytochemical compounds compared to its leaf extract in distilled water. Table 4.35 - 4.39 show the suggested compounds present in the extracts tested.

Compound name	Retention time	Area	Area (%)	Group
11-Hexadecenoic acid, 15-methyl-, methyl ester	4.27	7959	1.99	Ester
Benzyl propiolate	6.14	7904	1.97	Ester
Cholest-8(14)-ene-3,15-diol, diacetate, (3.beta-hydroxy-5 alpha-	12.92	8019	2.00	Sterol
Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-	15.85	36071	9.01	Phenolic compound
6-[(Z)-1-Butenyl]-1,4-cycloheptadiene	16.70	9699	2.42	Terpene
Thiocarbamic acid, N,N-dimethyl, S-1,3-diphenyl-2-butenyl ester	17.52	7857	1.96	Ester
1- Benzazirene-1-carboxylic acid, 2,2,5a-trimethyl-1a-[3-oxo-1-butenyl] perhydro-	19.56	8089	2.02	Organic acid
Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	20.48	8167	2.04	Ester
Phenol, 6-methyl-2-[(4-morpholinyl)methyl]-	21.25	7930	1.98	Phenolic compound
3,4,5-Tris(trimethylsiloxy)-1-cyclohexene-1-carboxylic acid	22.63	9591	2.40	Organic acid

 Table 4.35 : The suggested GC-MS result for I. aquatica leaf in methanolic (IA-LM) extract.

Table 4.36 : The suggested	GC-MS result for <i>l</i>	<i>reptans</i> leaf in methanolic	c (IR-LM) extract.

Compound name	Retention time	Area	Area (%)	Group
1,3-Propanediol, 2-methyl-2-propyl-	12.73	9538	3.16	Polyols
1- Benzazirene-1-carboxylic acid, 2,2,5a-trimethyl-1a-[3-oxo-1-butenyl] perhydro-	14.77	7969	2.64	Ester
Phenol, 2,5-bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-	15.85	59172	19.63	Phenolic compound
Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	17.59	8628	2.86	Ester
Methyl 3-(1-pyrrolo)thiophene-2-carboxylate	17.91	9414	3.12	Ester

Compound name	Retention time	Area	Area (%)	Group
Corydaldine	3.18	22416	8.88	Alkaloid
Ethyl 4-(N-(2-nitro)benzylidene)amino-benzoate	5.80	8257	3.27	Ester
4-Hexenoic acid, 6-hydroxy-4-methyl-, methyl ester, (E)-	7.90	10313	4.09	Ester
Phenol, 2,4-bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-	15.85	30304	12.00	Phenolic compound
1-Benzazirene-1-carboxylic acid, 2,2,5a-trimethyl-1a-[3-oxo-1-butenyl] perhydro-, methyl ester	17.00	8085	3.2	Organic acid
Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	18.73	11194	4.43	Ester
3-Methylindole-2-carboxylic acid, 4,5,6,7-tetrahydro-, ethyl ester	18.78	12319	4.88	Ester

Table 4.37 : The suggested GC-MS result for *I. aquatica* leaf in distilled water (IA-LD) extract.

62

Compound name	Retention time	Area	Area (%)	Group
7-Norcarancarbonic acid, methyl ester	9.109	8899	2.33	Ester
Cholest-5-ene-3,20-diol, 3-acetate, (3.beta.,20R)-	11.727	7522	1.97	Polyol
Carbonic acid, methyl phenyl ester	12.304	8864	2.33	Ester
1,2,4-Benzenetricarboxylic acid, 4-dodecyl dimethyl ester	12.498	9010	2.36	Ester
Bromopropylate	13.23	7471	1.96	Ester
4-Dimethylamino-3,5-dinitrobenzoic acid	13.384	9107	2.39	Organic acid
Phenol, 2,4-dichloro-6-nitro-	14.676	9012	2.36	Phenolic compound
2-Nitro-4-(trifluoromethyl)phenol	16.653	7842	2.06	Phenol
Anthranilic acid, N-methyl-, butyl ester	17.459	7508	1.97	Ester
2-Nitro-4-(trifluoromethyl)phenol	17.722	19577	5.14	Phenolic compound
Demecolcine	18.362	7379	1.94	Alkaloid

Table 4.38 : The suggested GC-MS results for *I. aquatica* stem in distilled water (IA-SD) extract.

Table 4.39 : The suggested GC-MS result for *I. reptans* leaf in distilled water (IR-LD) extract.

Compound name	Retention time	Area	Area (%)	Group
2-Chloroethyl oleate	7.92	13682	4.85	Ester
Phenol, 3,5-bis(1,1-dimethylethyl)-	15.84	47000	16.64	Phenolic compound
Phenol, 6-methyl-2-[(4-morpholinyl)methyl]-	16.01	8893	3.15	Phenolic compound
Silicic acid, diethyl bis(trimethylsilyl) ester	19.83	9095	3.22	Ester

4.4 Total Phenol Content (TPC) and Total Flavonoid Content (TFC)

The TPC was calculated based on the ascorbic acid standard curve generated, y = 0.004x + 0.391, $R^2 = 0.878$ (Appendix B) and was expressed as mg GAE/g. TFC was obtained from the quercetin standard curve, y = 0.001x + 0.028, $R^2 = 0.959$ (Appendix C) and expressed as mg QE/g.

Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2 shows the TPC and TFC for all *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extract. A higher TPC and TFC can be observed in the non-polar extracts compared to the polar extracts for both plants. The highest TPC was observed in IR-LC (357.25 ± 3.88 mg GAE/g) followed by IR-SH (206.12 ± 9.85 mg GAE/g). TFC was the highest in IR-SH (3741.17 ± 214.14 mg QE/g) followed by IR-LC (3104.29 ± 135.48 mg QE/g). These indicate that the non-polar extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* had a higher level of phenolic contents compared to the polar-extracts.



Figure 4.1 : TPC for *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E. (n=3). Asterisk (*) indicates that the TPC was too small to be observed on the graph. All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E. (n=3).



Figure 4.2 : TFC for *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E. (n=3). Asterisk (*) indicates that the TFC was too small to be observed on the graph. All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E. (n=3).

4.5 Antioxidant Assays

4.5.1 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) Radical Scavenging Assay

The ability to scavenge 2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) radicals by *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts were measured by the changes in the absorbance of the samples at 517 nm. A colour change could also be observed in the sample solution turning from deep purple colour into bright yellow upon incubation with the extracts and DPPH solution after a few minutes.

Figure 4.3 shows the DPPH scavenging activity for all *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extract at 800 µg/ml. Ascorbic acid was used to generate a standard curve with an IC₅₀ of > 19 µg/ml (Appendix F). Based on Figure 4.3, it can be observed that the methanolic extracts showed the greatest DPPH scavenging activity followed by distilled water extracts and chloroform extracts of both plants except in *I. reptans* stem. The highest DPPH scavenging activity was observed in IA-LM (71.4 \pm 1.3 %) with IC₅₀ at

> 200 µg/ml and IA-SM (62.5 ± 1.4 %) with an IC₅₀ at > 300 µg/ml. These two extracts showed significantly similar scavenging activity as ascorbic acid at 800µg/ml. These show that the *I. aquatica* methanolic extracts had a high scavenging activity. It also indicates that the *I. aquatica* methanolic extracts had a higher level of phytochemical compounds to scavenge the DPPH radical compared to other extracts. Both IA-LM and IA-SM showed similar scavenging activity (P < 0.05) against DPPH which indicates that plant parts have no significant differences in their DPPH radical scavenging activity.

Distilled water extracts and chloroform extracts showed DPPH scavenging activity < 50 %. All hexane extract and IR-S had negligible scavenging activity against DPPH.

Lower scavenging activity seen in *I. reptans* extracts compared to *I. aquatica* extracts showed that *I. aquatica* has a better scavenging ability against DPPH. It also infers that both plants differ significantly in their phytochemical compounds content.



Figure 4.3 : The DPPH scavenging assay for the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I reptans* at 800 µg/ml at 517 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3). Means with differ lowercase letters (a, b, c, d, & e) are significantly different from each other (P < 0.05, using one-way ANOVA test followed by Duncan's post hoc multiple comparison test). Means with asterisk (*) indicates the activity is negligible.

4.5.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay

Antioxidant reducing power of the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts were measured as a change in the absorbance at 593 nm and were expressed as FRAP values. A colour change was also observed in the sample solutions, turning from colourless to blue or purple upon incubation with FRAP reagent and the extracts. Table 4.40 shows the FRAP values for the extracts expressed as mmol Fe^{2+}/g dry extract \pm S.E. Ferrous sulphate was used to construct the standard reference curve at y = 0.2088x - 0.267, $R^2 = 0.985$ where y is absorbance and x is concentration (Appendix G).

From the table, the non-polar extracts had a higher FRAP values compared to polar extracts for both plant extracts. The highest FRAP was observed in IR-SH (2.60 ± 0.01 mmol Fe²⁺/g) followed by IR-LC (0.83 ± 0.02 mmol Fe²⁺/g) and IA-SC (0.44 ± 0.07 mmol Fe²⁺/g). Higher FRAP value indicates that the extract contains more antioxidants to reduce more ferric ion in the FRAP reagent. As the non-polar extracts for both plants had higher FRAP values, more antioxidants were present in these extracts compared to the polar extracts.

Extracts _	FRAP value (mmol Fe2+/g)					
	Hexane	Chloroform	Methanol	Distilled water		
IA-L	0.42 ± 0.11	0.19 ± 0.06	0.08 ± 0.10	0.20 ± 0.08		
IA-S	0.14 ± 0.07	0.44 ± 0.07	0.09 ± 0.07	0.07 ± 0.11		
IR-L	0.21 ± 0.02	0.83 ± 0.02	0.39 ± 0.09	0.28 ± 0.06		
IR-S	2.60 ± 0.01	0.25 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.01		

Table 4.40 : The FRAP value for *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. All data were expressed as mean \pm S.E. (n=3).

IA-L : *I. aquatica* leaf

IA-S : *I. aquatica* stem

IR-L : *I. reptans* leaf

IR-S : *I. reptans* stem

4.5.3 Ferrous Ion (Fe²⁺) Chelating Activity Assay

The ability of the extracts to chelate Fe^{2+} was measured through the changes in the absorbance reading at 562 nm. EDTA.Na₂ was used as a standard with and IC₅₀ at > 100 µg/ml (Appendix H). A reduction in the red-coloured solution upon incubation with the extracts indicated chelating activity in the solution. Figure 4.4 displays the ability of each extract to chelate Fe^{2+} at 100 µg/ml.

The Fe²⁺ chelating ability for all *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extract was found to be comparatively low (< 40 %). Only three extracts showed significant activity; IA-SD (39.7 \pm 4.0 %), IR-LD (24.1 \pm 1.0 %) and IR-SC (10.3 \pm 1.0 %). Other extracts showed negligible activity against Fe²⁺ chelation. Low chelating activity in the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts indicates that the antioxidants present in the extracts had low iron binding ability. Therefore, less Fe²⁺ were chelated by the antioxidants present in the extracts.



Figure 4.4 : The inhibition of FeCl₂ by different extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I reptans*. at 100 µg/ml at 562 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3). Means with differ lowercase letters (a) are significantly different from each other (P < 0.05, using one-way ANOVA test followed by Duncan's post hoc multiple comparison test). Means with asterisk (*) indicates the activity is negligible.

4.5.4 Hydrogen peroxide, H₂O₂ scavenging assay

The extracts ability to scavenge hydrogen peroxide, H_2O_2 was measured as a reduction in the absorbance reading at 230 nm. Ascorbic acid was used as a standard with an IC₅₀ of > 100 μ g/ml (Appendix I). Figure 4.5 describes the H₂O₂ scavenging activity of all extract at 100 μ g/ml.

It was observed that IR-LH (55.5 \pm 2.0 %) gave the highest H₂O₂ scavenging activity. The other extracts showed lower H₂O₂ scavenging activities (< 50 %) while IA-SC, IA-SM and IR-SM produced no comparable activity against H₂O₂ scavenging. The leaf extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* tend to have a higher scavenging ability in the non-polar extracts. Conversely, the stem extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* had a higher scavenging ability in the polar extracts. Since, the leaf and stem extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* showed different scavenging activity in different solvent polarity, this indicates that different plant parts showed varied effectiveness in transforming H₂O₂ into water. This also denotes that different phytochemical compounds were involved in scavenging H₂O₂ in the leaf and stem extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*.



Figure 4.5 : The hydrogen peroxide, H₂O₂ scavenging activity by different extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* at 100 µg/ml at 230 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3). Means with differ lowercase letters (a, b, c, & d) are significantly different from each other (*P* < 0.05, using one-way ANOVA test followed by Duncan's post (cont.) hoc multiple comparison test). Means with asterisks (*) indicates that the scavenging activity is negligible.

4.6 Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitory Assay

The capability to inhibit AChE was measured as a reduction in the absorbance at 410 nm. Berberine was used as a standard with an IC₅₀ of > 5 μ g/ml (Appendix J). Figure 4.6 – 4.9 showed the AChE inhibition by all extracts.

It was observed that for both plant species, the chloroform extracts (70 - 100 %) showed the highest AChE inhibition followed by the methanolic extracts (< 30 %), the distilled water extracts (< 20 %) and the hexane extracts (< 20 %) for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. This indicates that the chloroform extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* are the most effective at inhibiting AChE and the phytochemical compounds present in the chloroform extracts of both plants showed anticholinesterase properties. *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* showed relatively similar inhibition against AChE. However, IR-SM observed a negligible activity against AChE inhibition.



Figure 4.6 : The inhibition of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* hexane extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3).



Figure 4.7 : The inhibition of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* chloroform extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3).



Figure 4.8 : The inhibition of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* methanolic extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3).



Figure 4.9 : The inhibition of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* distilled water extracts on the activity of acetylcholinesterase measured at 410 nm. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3).

4.7 Pearson Correlation Coefficient (R²) Analysis

Positive value ($0 < R^2 \le 1$) indicates there is a correlation between tested assays while negative value ($0 \le R^2 \le -1$) means there is no correlation between the assays. Table 4.41 shows the Pearson correlation coefficient (R^2) analysis for all the assays carried out.

Based on the table, it can be seen that the TPC assay has a positive correlation with the TFC assay ($R^2 = 0.961$, P < 0.05), showing that the level of the phenolic contents correlates with the level of the flavonoid contents present in the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Besides that, The FRAP assay ($R^2 = 0.751$, P < 0.05), the Fe²⁺ chelating assay ($R^2 = 0.622$, P < 0.05) and the cholinesterase inhibitory assay ($R^2 = 0.636$, P < 0.05) also have positive correlations with TPC assay indicating that the level of the phenolic compounds found present in the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* correlates with the activities seen in the assays. On the contrary, the DPPH assay ($R^2 = -0.523$, P < 0.05) and H₂O₂ assay ($R^2 = 0.026$) saw no correlation with TPC assay, indicating that the activities observed in the assays were not due to the action of the phenolic compounds present in the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Other phytochemical compounds might be responsible for the activity observed in the assays.

	Pearson correlation (R ²)						
Assay	ТРС	TFC	DPPH	FRAP	Fe ²⁺ chelating	H2O2 scavenging	
TPC		0.961**					
DPPH	-0.523^{**}	-0.470^{**}					
FRAP	0.751**	0.725**	-0.737^{**}				
Fe ²⁺ chelating	0.622**	0.622^{**}	-0.431**	0.401**			
H ₂ O ₂ scavenging	0.026	-0.021	-0.145	0.051	-0.045		
Cholinesterase inhibitory	0.636**	0.623**	0.021	0.177	0.257^{*}	0.085	

Table 4.41 : The Pearson correlation coefficient test for all seven assays carried out. All data were expressed as means \pm S.E. (n=3).

** correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed) * correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed)

CHAPTER 5 : DISCUSSION

5.1 Extraction of Plant Materials

Extracting phytochemical contents requires several considerations to ensure a proper extraction. Various factors have been identified to influence the extraction process such as pre-treatment and extraction process, solvents, temperature and time (Mojzer *et al.*, 2016). For instance, different pre-treatment processes such as milling, grinding, drying or freeze-drying can affect the phytochemical contents during the extraction process. Drying has been found to cause plant samples to be exposed to Maillard reaction (Sulaiman *et al.*, 2011). Maillard reaction or non-enzymatic browning produce compounds that enhance the antioxidant activity in the plant, consequently leading to overestimation of the polyphenolics and antioxidant activity of the plant (Sulaiman *et al.*, 2011; Phisut & Jiraporn, 2013). In the experiment, air-drying was chosen as it helped to preserve heat-labile compounds from degenerating (N, 2015). Grinding was carried out to ensure effective extraction and separation of compounds. Small particles improved surface area to volume ratio which provided more interactions between the compounds to be extracted and the solvent used, therefore enhancing the extraction process.

The type of solvent used also influence the extraction yield as each compound has its own chemical profile such as its solubility in solvent (Alternimi *et al.*, 2017). Polar solvents are effective in extracting polyphenols due to the strong hydrogen bond between the antioxidant polar sites and the solvent (Sultana *et al.*, 2009; Thouri *et al.*, 2017).

In the experiment, the highest yield was seen in the methanolic extracts for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Polar extracts were seen to be better at extracting phytochemical compounds in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Similar findings were observed in the extraction of *Salacia chinensis* root and *Datura metel* (Dhawan & Gupta 2017; Ngo *et al.*, 2017). However, a higher yield in methanolic extracts could also be due to some low and high molecular weight phenolic compounds and highly soluble carbohydrates and proteins

being simultaneously extracted during the process (Prasad *et al.*, 2005; Do *et al.*,2014). As can be seen in the TPC assay carried out, higher yield of the methanolic extracts of both plants had a lower level of TPC and lower antioxidant activites.

5.2 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) Analysis

Thin layer chromatography (TLC) was conducted to enable preliminary screening on the phytochemical compounds present in the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. It functions to separate sample fractions and allow the observation of chemical reactions progressions (Meyers & Meyers, 2008). Through treatments with reagents and the calculation of the R_f value, the nature of the phytochemical compounds can be characterised and identified. Polar compounds produce lower R_f values in TLC assay as they travel up slowly across the TLC plate due to their strong adsorptivity. TLC is convenient, cheap, simple, produce rapid results and has high sensitivity and reproducibility (Santiago & Strobel, 2013).

The effectiveness of the sample fractions separation can be manipulated by the mixtures of the solvents used during the process. Polar solvents exhibited greater eluting strength compared to the less polar solvent. Selecting an appropriate solvent will result in good selectivity in separating the sample mixtures. The TLC conducted for the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts observed more separation of compounds in 10 % methanol as solvents. This indicates that 10 % methanol, a polar solvent, was better at separating the *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts compared to chloroform, which is non-polar solvent.

Besides that, a greater amount of phytochemical compounds observed in non-polar extracts showed that the phytochemical compounds present are non-polar. For instance, terpene is known to be non-polar and very soluble in organic solvent such as hexane and chloroform (Jiang *et al.*, 2016). It is made up of hydrocarbon chains and can undergo modifications to generate a more complex terpenoid (Jiang *et al.*, 2016). Several studies

have shown the presence of terpenes in *I. aquatica* extracts (Shim, 2012; El-Sawi *et al.*, 2017).

5.3 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS) and Gas

Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) Analyses

Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS) is commonly used to detect non-volatile and thermally labile compounds. LC-MS comprises of an autosampler, a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system, an ionization source and a mass spectrometer (MS) (Korfmacher, 2005). Ionization source functions as an interface between the liquid phase in the HPLC system and the gas phase in the mass spectrometer (Korfmacher, 2005). There are multiple types of ionization source that are available such as electrospray ionization (ESI) and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI). However, depending on the choice of the flow rates and mobile phase modifiers used, their performance may be restricted (Hanold *et al.*, 2004). The mobile phase in LC-MS is liquid. Water and methanol or acetonitrile are the common eluents used as a mobile phase in LC-MS (Korfmacher, 2005).

Quercetin, tannic acid and gallic acid are phenolic compounds usually found in plants. Phenylalanine is a type of amino acids that are important in many biological processes (Yoo *et al.*, 2013). Flavonoids, various phenolic compounds and isoflavonoids are some of the phenylalanine-derived compounds involved in plant defense mechanism, ultraviolet (UV) protection and signalling (Yoo *et al.*, 2013). The LC-MS conducted showed the presence of quercetin, phenylalanine and tannic acid in the extracts of both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Chu *et al.* (2000) and Lawal *et al.* (2017) documented the presence of various quercetin derivatives in *I. aquatica*. Men *et al.* (2010) and Doka *et al.* (2014) detected the presence of phenylalanine in *I. aquatica*.

Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) is usually used to detect volatile and semi-volatile compounds. Similar to LC-MS, the system involved a sampler, gas chromatography (GC) and detector, mass spectrophotometer (MS) (Hussain & Maqbool, 2014). Coupling of the two system enables simultaneous identification of the structural information of multiple compounds with great precision (Sneddon et al., 2007). In GC-MS, the mobile phase used involved a carrier gas such as helium, nitrogen or argon. Different carrier gas used will have a different effectivity in separating the compounds present. The carrier gas will push the sample through a capillary column which contains a stationary phase, usually in a solid form, to separate the compounds in the sample (Hussain & Maqbool, 2014). Different compounds move at a different rate (retention time) through the column thus separating the sample into compound fragments and this is detected by the MS (Hussain & Maqbool, 2014). MS detects the fragments through ionization in which they will be organized according to mass to form a fragmentation pattern (Hussain & Maqbool, 2014). Fragmentation pattern and retention time are characteristic to each compound (Hussain & Maqbool, 2014). This enables the precise identification of a compound in a sample (Sneddon et al., 2007).

The GC-MS carried out suggested the presence phenolic compounds, alkaloids, terpenes, sterol, esters, polyols, organic acids and fatty acids in all five extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*. Sterols are a component of the cell membranes and involved in multiple biological functions. For instance, sterols help in plant growth and responses to biotic and abiotic pressures (Ferrer *et al.*, 2017). In plant, sterols can exist in free forms, as steryl esters, steryl glycosides and acyl steryl glycosides.

Alkaloids are heterocyclic nitrogen compounds known to have numerous pharmacological properties such as antimicrobial and antioxidant activities (Tiong *et al.*, 2013; Marutescu *et al.* 2017). Alkaloids can be divided into multiple classes which include pyrrolidine, isoquinolone, quinoline, indole, imine, imidazole, peperidine and pyridine (Iriti & Faoro, 2009).

Polyols are reduced ketose and aldehyde forms of sugars found in plants (Noiraud *et al.*, 2001). They are involved in the protection against biotic and abiotic stresses such as salt and photooxidative stress besides having antioxidant properties (Ehrenshaft, 2002).

5.4 Total Phenol Content (TPC) and Total Flavanoid Content (TFC) Assays Analyses

Folin-Ciocalteu's assay was adopted in performing the total phenol content (TPC) assay. The process involves electron reduction reactions between phenolic compounds and Folin-Ciocalteu's reagent under alkaline conditions. This resulted in colour changes of the reagent from yellow to blue solution (Sánchez-Rangel *et al.*, 2013).

Total flavanoid content (TFC) quantification was performed based on the aluminium colorimetric assay which utilizes the formation of complexes between aluminium chloride with the keto- or hydroxyl groups of flavonoids under acidic conditions (Bhaigyabati *et al.*, 2014).

The TPC and TFC assays for *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* revealed that non-polar extracts had significantly higher phenolic and flavonoid contents compared to the other extracts. Similarly, the TLC assay performed showed more phenolic compounds in non-polar extracts compared to polar extracts of both plants. The LC-MS test done on five polar extracts also saw no to minimal traces of gallic acid and tannic acid and considerable level of quercetin in all five *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* polar extracts sent, signifying low phenolic compounds level in these extracts.

A strong correlation was seen between the TPC and TFC ($R^2 = 0.961$, P < 0.05) assays for both plant extracts.

Nonetheless, the TFC was seen to be at a higher level compared to the TPC for both *I*. *aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts. Flavonoid is one of the types of phenolic compounds.

The TPC level should be higher compared to the TFC level. An alternative is to replace quercetin with catechin as standard in the TFC assay (Singh *et al.*, 2015).

5.5 Antioxidant Analysis of Plant Extracts

There are multiple antioxidant assays available that can be used in antioxidant analysis. Each assay operates differently and depending on their usage, these assays can provide useful information on the antioxidant properties of the samples to be examined. Although a single assay can be employed, a combination of several assays may help in delivering a comprehensive understanding on the antioxidant profile of a sample (Genskowsky *et al.,* 2016). All four antioxidant assays were chosen to provide information on the antioxidant activities of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* in targeting free radicals forming agents.

5.5.1 2,2-Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) Assay Analysis

2,2-Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay is a type of test used to determine the antioxidant ability of individual phenolics, food and biological samples (Gülçin, 2012). It utilizes the reduction of the DPPH radical – a stable organic nitrogen radical with deep purple colour, in alcoholic solution by an antioxidant into diphenyl-picrylhydrazine which is yellow in colour (Gülçin, 2012). This indicates the hydrogen donating ability of the extracts and is measured by the change in absorbance of a sample by using a spectrometer (Rangasamy & Namasivayam, 2014).

A negative correlation between TPC and DPPH assays ($R^2 = -0.532$, P < 0.05) obtained showed that phenolic compounds did not contribute to the scavenging activity of the extracts. The higher TPC level in chloroform extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* were observed to have a low DPPH scavenging activity. Other phytochemical compounds might be responsible for the high scavenging activity displayed in the methanolic extracts

such as amino acids. The LC-MS conducted observed a considerable amount of phenylalanine in the methanolic and distilled water extracts of both plants. Undertaking a phenylalanine content assay could be done to determine whether phenylalanine does contribute to the radical scavenging activity of these extracts. Meda *et al.* (2005) conducted a study on Burkina Fasan honey and found out that proline contributed strongly to the high radical scavenging activity observed. Similar result was seen in rapeseed protein hydrolysates in which high amino acid contents correlates with high antioxidant activity seen (Wang *et al.*, 2016).

Besides that, the polar extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* were observed to have a better scavenging activity compared to the non-polar extracts. This indicates that the phytochemical compounds present in polar extracts of both plants have a higher hydrogen donating ability compared to those in non-polar extracts. Similar result was obtained in a previous study done on *I. aquatica* by Prasad *et al.* (2005).

No significant differences (P < 0.05) were observed in the DPPH scavenging activities of *I. aquatica* leaf and stem methanolic extracts which indicates they have similar scavenging ability. Nonetheless, Huang *et al.* (2005) saw differences in the radical scavenging activity between *I. aquatica* plant parts. The highest radical scavenging activity was observed in the ethanolic stem extract of *I. aquatica* compared to its leaf extracts ($68.3 \pm 0.7 \%$ vs $63.9 \pm 0.1 \%$). However, the extraction process, geographical locations and growth conditions might influence the differences in the phytochemical contents found in plants. Nevertheless, limited research has been done on the effects of these factors on *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*.

5.5.2 Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) Assay Analysis

Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) assay defines an antioxidant reducing power through its ability to donate electrons and reduce ferric ion, Fe³⁺ to ferrous ion,

Fe²⁺ and is expressed as a FRAP value (Chen *et al.*, 2010; Benzie & Devaki, 2017). It provides a "quantitative correlation between the antioxidant capabilities and the redox potentials for reductant antioxidants" (Cheng & Li, 2004).

Reduction of Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺ produces a blue-coloured complex, ferrous-tripyridyltriazine which can be measured by the change in absorbance at 593 nm (Benzie & Strain, 1996; Md. Irshad *et al.*, 2012). The FRAP assay is quick, simple and rapid (Benzie & Devaki, 2017).

A positive correlation with TPC assay ($R^2 = 0.725$, P < 0.05) indicates that the antioxidant reducing power in the extracts were contributed by the phenolic compounds. Higher FRAP values obtained in the non-polar extracts for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* correlate with the high TPC observed in the extracts. A higher level of phenolic compounds in the non-polar *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts enabled more reduction of Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺ through the donation of electrons, thereby forming more ferrous-tripyridyltriazine complex in the solution. This increased the absorbances for both plant extracts which were translated into higher FRAP values.

A negative correlation with DPPH assay ($R^2 = -0.737$, P < 0.05) means that the antioxidants involved in the activity of both assays were different significantly.

5.5.3 Fe²⁺ Chelating Assay Analysis

Iron is inevitably important in carrying out and maintaining a proper cell metabolism. Almost all cell directly or indirectly implicated in the cellular iron metabolism involving redox-reaction machinery (Bresgen & Eckl, 2015). Without appropriate regulation, this cellular machinery can be compromised, generate ROS and induce cellular damages (Galaris & Pantopoulos, 2008, Dixon & Stockwell, 2013). For instance, iron-catalyzed ROS is linked to cell necrosis, accumulation of intracellular ROS and lipid peroxidation (Gammella *et al.*, 2016). Antioxidants help in maintaining a proper level of ROS by acting as iron chelators. They function through binding with the freely available iron in the body thereby forming stable complexes that can be passed out of the body through faeces or urine (Adjimani & Prince Asare, 2015). Consequently, this reduces the formation of ROS and prevent oxidative stress.

In Fe²⁺ chelating activity assay, the ability of antioxidant to chelate Fe²⁺ was measured. Ferrozine will react with ferrous chloride, FeCl₂, forming red colour complexes (Md Yusof *et al.*, 2013). Chelation of Fe²⁺ by antioxidants can be observed through decolorization of the red colour solution and can be measured using a spectrometer.

Positive correlations observed between Fe²⁺ chelating assay and the TPC ($R^2 = 0.622$, P < 0.05) and FRAP assay ($R^2 = 0.401$, P < 0.05) show that the chelating activities seen were due to the action of the phenolic compounds present in the extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans*.

Low chelating activities of Fe^{2+} by the all extract of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* denote that the phenolic compounds present in the extracts had low iron binding ability. This can be attributed to several factors. For instance, the antioxidant acitivity of a phenolic compound can be influenced by the number, position and binding site of the hydroxyl group and type of substituents on the aromatic ring (Andjelković *et al.*, 2006). Adjimani and Prince Asare (2015) found that phenolic compounds such as the 2,3dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHBA) and caffeic acid had low iron binding ability owing to the structures bearing catechol groups. Previous studies showed that fractionated methanol extract of *I. aquatica* contained dihydroxybenzoic acid pentoside and dipentoside and caffeic acid moeities (Lawal *et al.*, 2016; Gad *et al.*, 2017). However, Huang *et al.* (2005) reported that methanolic *I. aquatica* extracts had showed Fe²⁺chelating activity.

5.5.4 Hydrogen Peroxide Assay Analysis

Hydrogen peroxide, H_2O_2 is a type of ROS that is "stable, diffusible and a non-radical oxidant" (Gough & Cotter, 2011). In low amount, H_2O_2 serve to regulate body metabolism and ensure proper functioning (Gough & Cotter, 2011). However, if not properly regulated, the molecule can oxidize numerous cellular components, inducing cell injuries and imposing damages to the DNA and lipid structures (Gough & Cotter, 2011). H_2O_2 scavenging assay measures the ability of antioxidants to transform H_2O_2 into water, H_2O through the donation of hydrogen atoms or electrons thereby reducing the concentration of H_2O_2 in the solution (Adjimani & Prince Asare, 2015). This is then scored by measuring the reduction in the absorbance of the sample at 230 nm.

No correlations seen between H_2O_2 scavenging assay and TPC and DPPH assays indicate that the antioxidants that contributed to the H_2O_2 scavenging activity were different.

The leaf and stem extracts of *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* were shown to have different scavenging activities against H_2O_2 . The leaf extracts were more effective in scavenging H_2O_2 in non-polar extracts while stem extracts had higher H_2O_2 scavenging activities in polar extracts for both plants. However, Dhanasekaran *et al.* (2015) observed differently in which the hydroalcoholic leaf extracts of *I. aquatica* had a higher H_2O_2 scavenging activity, attributed to the high TPC seen in the extract. This could be attributed to the geographical locations and growth conditions that might influence the differences in the phytochemical contents found in plants.

5.6 Anticholinesterase Assay Analysis

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) enzyme belongs to the one of the two types of cholinesterase enzymes. In AD, overexpression of this enzyme has been found to be one of the main pathologies underlying the development of the disease. Hence targeting the system by inhibiting the action of the enzyme may help in restoring the normal functioning of the mechanism. AChE inhibitory assay or Ellman assay is a cheap and convenient method in diagnosing, therapeutic monitoring and in vitro kinetic investigation for the interaction between compounds and AChE enzyme (Worek *et al.*, 2012). The assay employs the coupling of reaction between the hydrolyzation of acetylthiocholine by AChE into thiocholine and the reaction between thiocholine and 5,5'-Dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) to form a yellow complex (Ellman *et al.*, 1961). The reduction in the yellow complex formed indicates the ability of a compound to inhibit the action of AChE enzyme and can be measured by the reduction in the absorbance.

Berberine is an alkaloid which belongs to protoberberine group (Wang *et al.*, 2018). It can be found in many types of plant including *Hydrastis canadensis* and *Coptis chinensis* (Wang *et al.*, 2018). Berberine is capable of inhibiting the action of AChE by inducing a conformational change in the structure of the enzyme therefore halting the activity of the enzyme (Xiang *et al.*, 2009). Research has been done in optimizing berberine into potential AD drug due to its low cytotoxicity, high efficacy and low adverse side effects (Xiang *et al.*, 2009).

Based on the assay, a correlation with the TPC assay ($R^2 = 0.636$, P < 0.05) showed that the phenolic compounds present in the extracts of both plants displayed AChE inhibitory properties. A higher TPC level in the chloroform extracts for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* was shown to exhibit higher AChE inhibitions. On the contrary, a low TPC level in the polar extracts for both plant species had a lower AChE inhibition. These show that AChE inhibition was influenced by the level of the phenolic compounds and that the phenolic compounds present had anticholinesterase activities. Dhanasekaran *et al.* (2015) revealed that a higher TPC level observed in hyroalcoholic extract of *I. aquatica* correlates with a higher inhibition against AChE activity.

A few phenolic compounds have been known to show anti-AChE activity such as hydroxyphenylpyruvic acid, caffeic acid, gallic acid, chlorogenic acid, quercetin and rutin (Szwajgier, 2015). These compounds particularly flavonoids, inhibit the action of AChE by forming hydrogen bonds between one of the aromatic rings bearing the OH groups with one of the amino acid residues in the active site of the enzyme (Roseiro et al., 2012; Ademosun *et al.*, 2016). This blocks the entry of other molecules into the enzyme active site thereby hindering the activity of the enzyme. In silico study demonstrated that chlorogenic acid and quercetin isolated from the hydroalcoholic extract of *I. aquatica* had considerable anti-AChE activity and was comparable to the activity of donepezil (Sivaraman et al., 2014). The low concentration of quercetin (< 13.4 mg/ml) obtained through the LC-MS conducted in the polar extracts of I. aquatica and I. reptans could justify for the low AChE inhibition seen in these extracts. Moreover, phenolic compounds have variable efficiencies in inhibiting the action of AChE. Oboh et al. (2013) showed that caffeic acid had a greater inhibition against AChE than chlorogenic acid. Quercetin was found to be more effective in inhibiting the activity of AChE compared to rutin (Ademosun et al., 2016).

CHAPTER 6 : CONCLUSION

I. aquatica and its relative, I. reptans were found to contain numerous nutrients and antioxidants such as terpenoids, phenolic compounds, flavonoid, alkaloid, polyols, organic acid, sterols and amino acids. However, I. aquatica was seen to have a higher antioxidant activity compared to I. reptans. Among all extracts, chloroform extracts for both *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* showed the highest antioxidant activity except for in DPPH and hydrogen peroxide scavenging assays. This high antioxidant activity correlates with the high level of TPC observed in the chloroform extracts for both plant species. Nonetheless, other antioxidants and compounds such as alkaloids and amino acids might play a role in contributing to the scavenging activities seen in the DPPH and hydrogen peroxide assays. Further investigation can be done to determine whether the compounds display scavenging activities against DPPH radical and hydrogen peroxide. A correlation between TPC and acetylcholinesterase inhibition suggests phenolic compounds present in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* do possess anticholinesterase activities and are influenced by the level of the phenolic compounds present. Further optimization can be carried out to determine the active compounds that is responsible for the anticholinesterase activity seen. Therefore, good acetylcholinesterase inhibition in *I. aquatica* and *I. reptans* extracts suggest that the plants can be a potential source to be optimized into acetylcholinesterase inhibitor drug to treat Alzheimer's disease. Besides that, since there is a limited scientific information on the bioactivity of *I. reptans*, this research can help on elucidating the properties of the plant.

- Čolović, M. B., Krstić, D. Z., Lazarević-Pašti, T. D., Bondžić, A. M., & Vasić, V. M. (2013). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Pharmacology and toxicology. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 11(3), 315-335.
- Ademosun, A. O., Oboh, G., Bello, F., & Ayeni, P. O. (2016). Antioxidative properties and effect of quercetin and its glycosylated form (rutin) on acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase activities. *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary* & Alternative Medicine, 21(4), 11-17.
- Adjimani, J. P., & Prince Asare. (2015). Antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of iron chelators. *Toxicology Reports*, *2*, 721-728.
- Ahmad, S., Ullah, F., Ayaz, M., Sadiq, A., & Imran, M. (2015). Antioxidant and anticholinesterase investigations of *Rumex hastatus* D. Don: Potential effectiveness in oxidative stress and neurological disorders. *Biological Research*, 48(1), e20.
- Akhtar, T., & Sheikh, N. (2013). An overview of thioacetamide-induced hepatotoxicity. *Toxin Reviews*, *32*(3), 43-46.
- Alam, M., Suhan, N., Rahman, M., Uddin, S. J., Reza, H. M., & Sarker, S. D. (2014). Effect of citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin, on metabolic syndrome and their mechanisms of action. *Advances in Nutrition*, 5(4), 404-417.
- Al-Amiery, A. A., Al-Majedy, Y. K., Kadhum, A. H., & Mohamad, A. (2015). Hydrogen peroxide scavenging activity of novel coumarins synthesized using different approaches. *PLoS ONE*, 10(7), e0132175.
- Alhakmani, F., Khan, S., & Ahmad, A. (2014). Determination of total phenol, in-vitro antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity of seeds and fruits of *Zizyphus spinachristi* grown in Oman. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 4, S636-S660.
- Ali, T. B., Schleret, T. R., Reilly, B. M., Chen, W., & Abagyan, R. (2015). Adverse effects of cholinesterase inhibitors in Dementia, according to the pharmacovigilance databases of the United-States and Canada. *PLoS ONE*, 10(12), e0144337.
- Aliev, G., Obrenovich, M. E., Reddy, P. V., Shenk, J. C., Moreira, P. I., Nunomura, A., .
 . Perry, G. (2008). Antioxidant therapy in Alzheimer's disease: Theory and practice. *Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 8(13), 1395-1406.
- Alkiyumi, S., Abdullah, M., Alrashdi, A., Munir Salama, S., Abdelwahab, S., & A. Hadi, A. (2012). *Ipomoea aquatica* extract shows protective action against thioacetamide-induced hepatotoxicity. *Molecules*, 17, 6146-6155.
- Altemimi, A., Lakhssassi, N., Baharlouei, A., Watson, D. G., & Lightfoot, D. A. (2017). Phytochemicals: Extraction, isolation, and identification of bioactive compounds from plant extracts. *Plants (Basel)*, 6(4), e42.

- Alzheimer's Association. (2015). Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's and Dementia*, 11(3), 332-384.
- Alzheimer's Association. (2017). *Beta-amyloid and the amyloid hypothesis*. Retrieved on October 24, 2018, from https://www.alz.org/national/documents/topicsheet_betaamyloid.pdf.
- Alzheimer's Association. (2018). Fiscal year 2019 Alzheimer's research funding. Retrieved on January 22, 2019, from http://act.alz.org/site/DocServer/2015_Appropriations_Fact_Sheet_FY16_.pdf? docID=3641.
- Alzheimer's Research UK. (2018). *Global prevalence*. Retrieved on October 23, 2018, from https://www.dementiastatistics.org/statistics/global-prevalence/.
- Andjelković, M., Van Camp, J., De Meulenaer, B., Depaemelaere, G., Socaciu, C., Verloo, M., & Verhe, R. (2006). Iron-chelation properties of phenolic acids bearing catechol and galloyl groups. *Food Chemistry*, 98(1), 23-31.
- Austin, D. F. (2007). Water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*, Convolvulaceae) A food gone wild. *Ethnobotany Research & Applications*, *5*, 123-146.
- Austin, D. F., & Huáman, Z. (1996). A synopsis of *Ipomoea* (Convolvulaceae) in the Americas. *Taxon*, 45(1), 3-38.
- Ballinger, E. C., Ananth, M., Talmage, D. A., & Role, L. W. (2016). Basal forebrain cholinergic circuits and signaling in cognition and cognitive decline. *Neuron*, 91, 1199-1218.
- Begum, M., Biswas, K., Sarker, A., Huq, T., Sarwar, A., Hossain, M., . . . Rahman, A. (2015). Anticholinesterase and antioxidant potentials of a medicinal plant *Abroma augusta*: Implications for the alternative treatment therapy of cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease. *Clinical Pharmacology & Biopharmaceutics*, 4(4), e148.
- Beninger, R. J., Wirsching, B. A., Jhamandas, K., & Boegman, R. J. (1989). Animal studies of brain acetylcholine and memory. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 1, 71-89.
- Benzie, I. F., & Devaki, M. (2017). The ferric reducing/ antioxidant power (FRAP) assay for non-enzymatic antioxidant capacity: Concepts, procedures, limitations and applications. In R. Apak, E. Capanoglu, & F. Shahidi (Eds.), *Measurement of antioxidant activity & capacity: Recent trends and applications* (pp. 77-80). Oxford, UK: John Wiley & Son Ltd.
- Benzie, I. F., & Strain, J. J. (1996). The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": The FRAP assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 239(1), 70-76.
- Bhaigyabati, T., Grihanjali Devi, P., & Bag, G. (2014). Total flavonoid content and antioxidant activity of aqueous rhizome extract of three *Hedychium* species of Manipur valley. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 5(5), 970-976.

- Bingham, M., Willemen, A., Wursten, B., Ballings, P., & Hyde, M. (2019). *Ipomoea aquatica* Forssk. Retrieved on January 21, 2019, from https://www.zambiaflora.com/speciesdata/image-display.php?species id=147520&image id=7.
- Boğa, M., Hacıbekiroğlu, I., & Kolak, U. (2011). Antioxidant and anticholinesterase activities of eleven edible plants. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 49(3), 290-295.
- Boligon, A. A., Machado, M. M., & Athayde, M. L. (2014). Technical evaluation of antioxidant activity. *Medicinal Chemistry*, 4(7), 517-522.
- Bresgen, N., & Eckl, P. M. (2015). Oxidative stress and the homeodynamics of iron metabolism. *Biomolecules*, 5(2), 808-847.
- Brewer, G. J. (2010). Why vitamin E therapy fails for treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 19,* 27-30.
- CAB International. (2019). *Ipomoea aquatica. In: Invasive species compendium.* Retrieved on October 18, 2018, from https://www.cabi.org/isc/datasheet/28781.
- Cancer Research UK. (2017). *Doxorubicin (adriamycin)*. Retrieved on October 18, 2018, from https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/about-cancer/cancer-in-general/treatment/cancer-drugs/drugs/doxorubicin.
- Cardoso, S., Carvalho, C., Correia, S. C., Seiça, R. M., & Moreira, P. I. (2016). Alzheimer's disease: From mitochondrial perturbations to mitochondrial medicine. *Brain Pathology*, 26, 632-647.
- Casey, D. A., Antimisiaris, D., & O'Brien, J. (2010). Drugs for Alzheimer's disease: Are they effective? *Pharmacy and Therapeutics*, 35(4), 208-211.
- Chanu, H., & Gupta, A. (2014). Necrosis as an adaptive response to copper toxicity in *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk. and its possible application in phytoremediation. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, *36*(12), 3275-3281.
- Chanu, L., & Gupta, A. (2016). Phytoremediation of lead using *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk. in hydroponic solution. *Chemosphere*, *156*, 407-411.
- Chanu, L., & Gupta, A. (2016). Toxicity of zinc on growth of an aquatic macrophyte, *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk. *Current World Environment*, 11(1), 218-227.
- Chen, T.-S., Liou, S.-Y., Wu, H.-C., Tsai, F.-J., Tsai, C.-H., Huang, C.-Y., & Chang, Y.-L. (2010). New analytical method for investigating the antioxidant power of food extracts on the basis of their electron-donating ability: Comparison to the ferric reducing/antioxidant power (FRAP) assay. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 8477-8480.
- Cheng, Z., & Li, Y. (2004). Reducing power: The measure of antioxidant activities of reductant compounds?. *Redox Report*, 9(4), 213-217.
- Chin, W., & A M, M. (2015). Retention of ascorbic acid and major mineral contents in water spinach and chinese kale after three different cooking methods. *Malaysia Journal of Nutrition*, 21(2), 255-262.
- Chitsa, H., Mtaita, T., & Tabarira, J. (2014). Nutrient content of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*) under different harvesting stages and preservation methods in Zimbabwe. *International Journal of Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 8(3), 854-861.
- Christen, Y. (2000). Oxidative stress and Alzheimer's disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71(2), 621S-629S.
- Chu, Y.-H., Chang, C.-L., & Hsu, H.-F. (2000). Flavonoid content of several vegetables and their antioxidant activity. *Science of Food and Agriculture*, 80(5), 561-566.
- Colovic, M. B., Danijela, K. Z., Lazarevic-Pasti, T. D., Bondzic, A. M., & Vasic, V. M. (2013). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Pharmacology and toxicology. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 11, 315-335.
- David, B., Wolfender, J.-L., & Dias, D. A. (2015). The pharmaceutical industry and natural products: Historical status and new trends. *Phytochemistry Reviews*, 14(2), 299-315.
- De Felice, F. G., Velasco, P. T., Lambert, M. P., Viola, K., Fernandez, S. J., Ferreira, S. T., & Klein, W. L. (2007). Aβ oligomers induce neuronal oxidative stress through an n-methyl-d-aspartate receptor-dependent mechanism that is blocked by the Alzheimer drug memantine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 11590-11601.
- Dewanjee, S., Dua, T. K., Khanra, R., Das, S., Barma, S., Joardar, S., . . . Jaafar, H. Z. (2015). Water spinach, *Ipomoea aquatica* (Convolvulaceae), ameliorates lead toxicity by inhibiting oxidative stress and apoptosis. *PLoS ONE*, 10(10), e139831.
- Dewanjee, S., Joardar, S., Bhattacharjee, N., Dua, T. K., Das, S., Kalita, J., & Manna, P. (2017). Edible leaf extract of *Ipomoea aquatica* Forssk. (Convolvulaceae) attenuates doxorubicin-induced liver injury via inhibiting oxidative impairment, MAPK activation and intrinsic pathway of apoptosis. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 105, 322-336.
- Dhanasekaran, S., Perumal, P., & Palayan, M. (2015). *In-vitro* screening for acetylcholinesterase enzyme inhibition potential and antioxidant activity of extracts of *Ipomoea aquatica* Forssk: Therapeutic lead for Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 5(2), 012-016.
- Dhawan, D., & Gupta, J. (2017). Comparison of different solvents for phytochemical extraction potential from *Datura metel* plant leaves. *International Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 11(1), 17-22.
- Dixit, A., Dixit, S., & Goswami, C. S. (2011). Process and plants for wastewater remediation : A review. *Scientific Reviews & Chemical Communications*, 1(1), 71-77.
- Dixon, S. J., & Stockwell, B. R. (2013). The role of iron and reactive oxygen species in cell death. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 10, 9-17.

- Do, Q., Angkawijaya, A., Tran-Nguyen, P., Hyunh, L., Edi Soetaredjo, F., Ismadji, S., & Ju, Y.-H. (2014). Effect of extraction solvent on total phenol content, total flavonoid content, and antioxidant activity of *Limnophila aromatica*. *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis*, 22(3), 296-302.
- Do, Q., Angkawijaya, A., Tran-Nguyen, P., Hyunh, L., Soetaredjo, F., Ismadji, S., & Ju, Y.-H. (2014). Effect of extraction solvent on total phenol content, total flavonoid content, and antioxidant activity of *Limnophila aromatica*. *Journal of food and drug analysis*, 22, 296-302.
- Doka, I. G., El Tigani, S., & Yagi, S. (2014). Nutritional composition and antioxidant properties of *Ipomoea aquatica* (Forssk) leaves. *Journal of Forest Products & Industries*, 3(4), 204-210.
- Drugbank. (2018). *Galantamine*. Retrieved on October 28, 2018, from https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs/DB00674.
- DrugBank. (2018). *Tacrine*. Retrieved on October 31, 2018, from https://www.drugbank.ca/drugs/DB00382.
- Dua, T. K., Dewanjee, S., Gangopadhyay, M., Khanra, R., Zia-Ul-Haq, M., & De Feo, V. (2015). Ameliorative effect of water spinach, *Ipomea aquatica* (Convolvulaceae), against experimentally induced arsenic toxicity. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 13, e81.
- Dua, T. K., Dewanjee, S., Khanra, R., Bhaskar, B., Zia-Ul-Haq, M., & De Feo, V. (2015). The effects of two common edible herbs, *Ipomoea aquatica* and *Enhydra fluctuans*, on cadmium-induced pathophysiology: A focus on oxidative defence and anti-apoptotic mechanism. *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 13, e245.
- Duan, L., Bhattacharyya, B. J., Belmadani, A., Pan, L., Miller, R. J., & Kessler, J. A. (2014). Stem cell derived basal forebrain cholinergic neurons from Alzheimer's disease patients are more susceptible to cell death. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 9, e3.
- Dumont, M., & Beal, F. M. (2011). Neuroprotective strategies involving ROS in Alzheimer's disease. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 51, 1014-1026.
- Dvir, H., Silman, I., Harel, M., Rosenberry, T. L., & Sussman, J. L. (2010). Acetylcholinesterase: From 3D structure to function. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 187(1-3), 10-22.
- Dzoyem, J. P., & Eloff, J. N. (2015). Anti-inflammatory, anticholinesterase and antioxidant activity of leaf extracts of twelve plants used traditionally to alleviate pain and inflammation in South Africa. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 160, 194-201.
- Ehrenshaft, M. (2002). Sugar alcohols, salt stress, and fungal resistance: Polyols multifunctional plant protection? *Journal of the America Society for Horticultural Science*, 127(4), 467-473.

- Ellman, G. L., Courtney, D. K., Andres Jr., V., & Featherstone, R. M. (1961). A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *7*, 88-95.
- El-Sawi, N., Gad, M., Al-Seeni, M., Younes, S., El-Ghadban, E.-M., & Ali, S. (2017). Evaluation of antidiabetic activity of *Ipomoea aquatica* fractions in streptozotocin induced diabetic in male rat model. *Sohag Journal of Science*, 2(1), 9-17.
- Farida Hayati, Sitarina Widyarini, Lulung Lanova, & Marsih Wijayanti. (2017). The effect of *Ipomoea reptans* Poir ethanolic extract on the histopathological parameters of pancreas in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (pp. 1-8). In U. Wagenknecht, P. Pötschke, S. Wiessner & M. Gehde (Eds.), *International Conference on Chemistry, Chemical Process and Engineering (IC3PE) 2017.* Yogyakarta, Indonesia: AIP Publishings.
- Feng, Y., & Wang, X. (2012). Antioxidant therapies for Alzheimer's disease. Oxidative Medicine and Celullar Longevity, 2012, e472932.
- Ferrer, A., Altabella, T., Arró, M., & Boronat, A. (2017). Emerging roles for conjugated sterols in plants. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 67, 27-37.
- Folch, J., Petrov, D., Ettcheto, M., Abad, S., Sánchez-López, E., García, M. L., . . . Camins, A. (2016). Current research therapeutic strategies for Alzheimer's disease treatment. *Neural Plasticity*, 2016, e8501693.
- Francis, P. T. (2005). The interplay of neurotransmitters in Alzheimer's disease. CNS Spectrums, 10(11), 6-9.
- Francis, P. T., Palmer, A. M., Snape, M., & Wilcock, G. K. (1999). The cholinergic hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: A review of progress. *Journal of Neurology*, *Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 66(2), 137-147.
- Friberg, N., Bonada, N., Bradley, D. C., Dunbar, M. J., Edwards, F. K., Grey, J., . . . Woodward, G. (2011). Biomonitoring of human impacts in freshwater ecosystems. Advances in Ecological Research, 44, 1-68.
- Fu, H., Xie, B., Ma, S., Zhu, X., Fan, G., & Pan, S. (2011). Evaluation of antioxidant activities of principal carotenoids available in water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*). *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 24*, 288-297.
- Göthberg, A., Greger, M., & Bengtsson, B.-E. (2009). Accumulation of heavy metals in water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*) cultivated in the Bangkok region, Thailand. *Enviornmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 21, 1934-1939.
- Gülçin, İ., Scozzafava, A., Supuran, T. C., Koksal, Z., Turkan, F., Çetinkaya, S., . . . Alwasel, S. H. (2016). Rosmarinic acid inhibits some metabolic enzymes including glutathione S-transferase, lactoperoxidase, acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase and carbonic anhydrase isoenzymes. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*, 31(6), 1968-1702.
- Gülçin, I. (2012). Antioxidant activity of food constituents: An overview. Archives of Toxicology, 86, 345-391.

- Gad, M., Tuenter, E., El-Sawi, N., Younes, S., El-Ghadban, E.-M., Demeyer, K., . . .
 Mangelings, D. (2017). Identification of some bioactive metabolites in a fractionated methanol extract from *Ipomoea aquatica* (aerial parts) through TLC, HPLC, UPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS and LC-SPE-NMR fingerprints analyses. *Phytochemical Analysis*, 29(1), 5-15.
- Galaris, D., & Pantopoulos, K. (2008). Oxidative stress and iron homeostasis: Mechanistic and health aspects. *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*, 45(1), 1-23.
- Galetto, L., & Bernardello, G., (2004). Floral nectaries, nectar production dynamics and chemical composition in six *Ipomoea* species (Convolvulaceae) in relation to pollinators. *Annals of Botany*, 94(2), 269-280.
- Gammella, E., Recalcati, S., & Cairo, G. (2016). Dual role of ROS as signal and stress agents: Iron tips the balance in favor of toxic effects. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2016*, e8629024.
- Garcia, M. V., von Poser, G. L., Apel, M., Tlatilpa, R. C., Mendoza-Ruiz, A., Villarreal, M. L., . . . Taketa, C. A. (2017). Anticholinesterase activity and identification of huperzine A in three Mexican lycopods: *Huperzia cuernavacensis, Huperzia dichotoma* and *Huperzia linifolia* (Lycopodiaceae). *Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 30*(1), 235-239.
- García-Ayllón, M.-S., Small, D. H., Avila, J., & Sáez-Valero, J. (2011). Revisiting the role of acetylcholinesterase in Alzheimer's disease: Cross-talk with p-tau and β-amyloid. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, *4*, e22.
- Gauthier, S. (2002). Advances in the pharmacotherapy of Alzheimer's disease. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 166*(5), 616-623.
- Gawad, J., Chavan, B., & Mhaske, A. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of Alzheimer's disease and its complications. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutica Science & Reeearch*, 5(2), 101-104.
- Genskowsky, E., Puente, L. A., Pérez-Alvarez, J. A., Fernández-López, J., Muñoz, L. A., & Viuda-Martos, M. (2016). Determination of polyphenolic profile, antioxidant activity and antibacterial properties of maqui [*Aristotelia chilensis* (Molina) Stuntz] a Chilean blackberry. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 96, 4235-4242.
- Gibson, G. E., & Thakkar, A. (2017). Interactions of mitochondria/metabolism and calcium regulation in Alzheimer's disease: A calcinist point of view. *Neurochemical Research*, 42(6), 1636-1648.
- Giraldo, E., Lloret, A., Fuchsberger, T., & Viña, J. (2014). Aβ and tau toxicities in Alzheimer's are linked via oxidative stress-induced p38 activation: Protective role of vitamin E. *Redox Biology*, *2*, 873-877.
- Gough, D. R., & Cotter, T. G. (2011). Hydrogen peroxide: A Jekyll and Hyde signalling molecule. *Cell Death & Disease, 2*, e213.

- Greig, S. L. (2015). Memantine ER/donepezil: A review in Alzheimer's disease. CNS Drugs, 29(11), 963-970.
- Grimm, M. O., Stahlmann, C. P., Mett, J., Haupenthal, V. J., Zimmer, V. C., Lehmann, J., . . . Hartmann, T. (2015). Vitamin E: Curse or benefit in Alzheimer's disease? A systematic investigation of the impact of α -, γ and δ -tocopherol on A β generation and degradation in neuroblastoma cells. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 19*, 646-654.
- Gupta, A., & Nath, J. (2018). Kitchen greywater treatment in a constructed wetland microcosm using aquatic macrophytes. *Water Quality Management* (pp. 141-149). Singapore: Springer.
- Hamid, K., Ullah, M., Sultana, S., Howlader, M., Basak, D., Nasrin, F., & Rahman, M. (2011). Evaluation of the leaves of *Ipomoea aquatica* for its hypoglycemic and antioxidant activity. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*, 3(7), 1330-1333.
- Hamulakova, S., Proprac, P., Jamova, K., Brezova, V., Lauro, P., Drostinova, L., . . . Valko, M. (2016). Targeting copper (II)-induced oxidative stress and the acetylcholinesterase system in Alzheimer's disease using multifunctional tacrinecoumarin hybrid molecules. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 161, 52-62.
- Hanold, K. A., Fischer, S. M., Cormia, P. H., & Miller, C. E. (2004). Atmospheric pressure photoionization. General properties for LC/MS. *Analytical Chemistry*, 76, 2842-2851.
- Hansen, R. A., Gartlehner, G., Webb, A. P., Morgan, L. C., Moore, C. G., & Jonas, D. E. (2008). Efficacy and safety of donepezil, galantamine, and rivastigmine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 3(2), 211-225.
- Hasselmo, M. E., & Bower, J. M. (1993). Acetylcholine and memory. Trends in Neurosciences, 16(6), 218-222.
- Heller, J. L. (2017). *Methylmercury poisoning*. Retrieved on October 19, 2018, from https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/001651.htm.
- Hermann, D. M. (2016). Insufficient evidence for vitamin E in Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions, 2(3), 199-201.
- Huang, D.-J., Chen, H.-J., Lin, C.-D., & Lin, Y.-H. (2005). Antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk) constituents. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica, 46*, 99-106.
- Hussain, S., & Maqbool, K. (2014). GC-MS: Principle, technique and its application in food science. *International Journal of Current Science*, 13, 116-126.
- Iriti, M., & Faoro, F. (2009). Chemical diversity and defence metabolism: How plants cope with pathogens and ozone pollution. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 10(8), 3371-3399.

- Ismail, A., Marjan, Z., & Chin, W. (2004). Total antioxidant activity and phenolic content in selected vegetables. *Food Chemistry*, 87, 581-586.
- Jelic, V., & Darreh-Shori, T. (2010). Donepezil: A review of pharmacological characteristics and role in the management of Alzheimer's disease. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Therapeutics*, *2*, 771-788.
- Jiang, T., Sun, Q., & Chen, S. (2016). Oxidative stress: A major pathogenesis and potential therapeutic target of antioxidative agents in Parkinson's disease and Alzheimer's disease. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 147, 1-19.
- Jiang, Z., Kempinski, C., & Chappeli, J. (2016). Extraction and analysis of terpenes/terpenoids. *Current Protocols in Plant Biology*, 1, 345-358.
- Kagan, I. A., & Flythe, M. D. (2014). Thin-layer chromatographic (TLC) separations and bioassays of plant extracts to identify antimicrobial compounds. *Journal of Visualized Experiment*, 85, e51411.
- Karim, N., Jia, Z., Zheng, X., Cui, S., & Chen, W. (2018). A recent review of citrus flavanone naringenin on metabolic diseases and its potential sources for high yield-production. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 79, 35-54.
- Kazmierski, J., Messini-Zachou, C., Gkioka, M., & Tsolaki, M. (2018). The impact of a long-term rivastigmine and donepezil treatment on all-cause mortality in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementia*, 33(6), 385-393.
- Kim Dong, N. T., Thu, N. T., Ogle, B., & Preston, T. R. (2008). Effect of supplementation level of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*) leaves in diets based on para grass (*Brachiaria mutica*) on intake, nutrient utilization, growth rate and economic returns of crossbred rabbits in the Mekong Delta of Vietnam. *Livestock Research* for Rural Development, 20(9), e144.
- Kim, J., Lee, H., & Lee, K. (2010). Naturally occurring phytochemicals for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 112(6), 1415-1430.
- Knees, S. G., & Patzelt, A. (2013). *Ipomoea aquatica*. Retrieved on October 4, 2018, from http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/168908/0.
- Korfmacher, W. A. (2005). Principles and applications of LC–MS in new drug discovery. *Drug Discovery Today, 10*(20), 1358-1367.
- Kumar, A., Singh, A., & Ekavali. (2015). A review on Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology and its management: An update. *Pharmacological Reports*, 67, 195-203.
- Kumar, V., Gogoi, B. J., Meghvansi, M. K., Singh, L., Srivastava, R. B., & Deka, D. C. (2009). Determining the antioxidant activity of certain medicinal plants of Sonitpur (Assam), India using DPPH assay. *Journal of Phytology*, 1(1), 49-56.

- Lawal, U., Leong, S., Shaari, K., Ismail, I., Khatib, A., & Abas, F. (2017). α-glucosidase inhibitory and antioxidant activities of different *Ipomoea aquatica* cultivars and LC–MS/ MS profiling of the active cultivar. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 41(2), e12303.
- Lawal, U., Maulidiani, M., Shaari, K., Ismail, I., Khatib, A., & Abas, F. (2017). Discrimination of *Ipomoea aquatica* cultivars and bioactivity correlations using NMR-based metabolomics approach. *Plant Biosystems - An International Journal Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Biology*, 151(5), 833-843.
- Lawal, U., Mediani, A., H, M., Shaari, K., Ismail, I., Khatib, A., & Abas, F. (2015). Metabolite profiling of *Ipomoea aquatica* at different growth stages in correlation to the antioxidant and α-glucosidase inhibitory activities elucidated by 1H NMRbased metabolomics. *Scientia Horticulturae*, *192*, 400-408.
- Lawal, U., Shaari, K., Ismail, I., Khatib, A., & Abas, F. (2016). Antioxidant and αglucosidase inhibitory activities of isolated compounds from *Ipomoea aquatica*. *Records of Natural Products*, 10(6), 701-707.
- Lim, G. P., Chu, T., Yang, F., Beech, W., Frautschy, S. A., & Cole, G. M. (2001). The curry spice curcumin reduces oxidative damage and amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21(21), 8370-8377.
- Lobo, V., Patil, A., PhatakA, & Chandra, N. (2010). Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: Impact on human health. *Pharmacognosy Reviews*, 4(8), 421-304.
- Lombardo, S., & Maskos, U. (2015). Role of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in Alzheimer's disease pathology and treatment. *Neuropharmacology*, *96*, 255-262.
- Machado, L. P., Carvalho, L. R., Young, M. M., Cardoso-Lopes, E. M., Centeno, D. C., Zambotti-Villela, L., . . . Yokoya, N. S. (2015). Evaluation of acetylcholinesterase inhibitory activity of Brazilian red macroalgae organic extracts. *Brazilian Journal* of Pharmacology, 25, 657-662.
- Maejima, Y., Zablocki, D., & Sadoshima, J. (2012). Oxidative stress and cardiac muscle. In J. A. Hill, & E. N. Olson (Eds.), *Muscle fundamental biology and mechanism* of disease (Vol. 1, pp. 309-322). London, UK: Academic Press.
- Malakar, C., & Choudhury, P. (2015). Pharmacological potentiality and medicinal uses of *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk: A review. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research*, 8(2), 60-63.
- Malalavidhane, S. T., Wickramasinghe, N. S., & Jansz, R. E. (2000). Oral hypoglycaemic activity of *Ipomoea aquatica*. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 72(1-2), 293-298.
- Malalavidhane, S., Wickramasinghe, S. M., & Jansz, E. R. (2001). An aqueous extract of the green leafy vegetable *Ipomoea aquatica* is as effective as the oral hypoglycaemic drug tolbutamide in reducing the blood sugar levels of Wistar rats. *Phytotherapy Research*, *15*, 635–637.

- Malalavidhane, T. S., Wickramashinghe, S., Perera, M., & Jansz, E. R. (2003). Oral hypoglycaemic activity of *Ipomoea aquatica* in streptozotocin-induced, diabetic wistar rats and Type II diabetics. *Phytotherapy Research*, 17(9), 1098-1100.
- Markesbery, W. R. (1997). Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's Disease. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 23*(1), 134-147.
- Marutescu, L., Popa, M., Saviuc, C., Lazar, V., & Chifiruic, M. C. (2017). Botanical pesticides with virucidal, bactericidal, and fungicidal activity. In A. M. Grumezescu (Ed.), New pesticides and soil sensors (pp. 311-335). London, UK: Academic Press.
- Matthew, M., & Subramaniam, S. (2014). *In vitro* screening for anti-cholinesterase and antioxidant activity of methanolic extracts of Ayurvedic medicinal plants used for cognitive disorders. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(1), e86804.
- Matysik, E., Woźniak, A., Paduch, R., Rejdak, R., Polak, B., & Donica, H. (2016). The new TLC method for separation and determination of multicomponent mixtures of plant extracts. *Journal of Analytical Methods in Chemistry*, 2016, e1813581.
- Mauri, P., De Palma, A., Pozzi, F., Basilico, F., Riva, A., Morazonni, P., ... Rossoni, G. (2006). LC–MS characterization of terpene lactones in plasma of experimental animals treated with *Ginkgo biloba* extracts correlation with pharmacological activity. *Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis*, 40, 763-768.
- Md Yusof, N., Hazizul Hasan, M., Armayni, U., Ahmad, M., Mohsin, H., & Abdul Wahab, I. (2013). The ferrous ion chelating assay of *Pandanus* extracts. *The Open Conference Proceedings Journal*, *4*, 155.
- Md. Irshad, Md. Zafaryab, Singh, M., & A. Rizvi, M. (2012). Comparative analysis of the antioxidant activity of *Cassia Fistula* extracts. *International Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 2012, e157125.
- Meda, A., Lamien, C. E., Romito, M., Milogo, J., & Nacoulma, O. G. (2005). Determination of the total phenolic, flavonoid and proline contents in Burkina Fasan honey, as well as their radical scavenging activity. *Food Chemistry*, 91(3), 571-577.
- Mehrotra, V., Mehrotra, S., Kirar, V., Shyam, R., Misra, K., Kumar Srivastava, A., & Paul Nandi, S. (2011). Antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of aqueous extract of *Withania somnifera* against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus* aureus. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology Research, 1*(1), 40-45.
- Meira, M., Periera da Silva, E., David, M. J., & David, P. J. (2012), Review of the genus *Ipomoea*: Traditional uses, chemistry and biological activities. *Brazilian Journal* of *Pharmacognosy*, 22(3), 682-713.
- Men, L., Ogle, B., Son, V., & Preston, T. R. (2010). Evaluation of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*) as a protein source for Ba Xuyen and Large White sows. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 22(4), e70.
- Meyers, C. L., & Meyers, D. J. (2008). Thin-layer chromatography. *Current Protocol in Nucleic Acid Chemistry*, *34*(1), A.3D.1-A.3D.13.

- Michigan State University. (2017). *Water spinach (Ipomoea aquatica)*. Retrieved on October 2, 2018, from https://www.misin.msu.edu/facts/detail/?project=&id=285&cname=Water%20s pinach.
- Mojzer, E. B., Hrnčič, M. K., Škrget, M., Knez, Ž., & Bren, U. (2016). Polyphenols: Extraction methods, antioxidative action, bioavailability and anticarcinogenic effects. *Molecules*, 21, e901.
- Mukherjee, P. K., Kumar, V., Mal, M., & Houghton, P. J. (2007). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors from plants. *Phytomedicine*, 14, 289-300.
- Nair, S. S., Kavrekar, V., & Mishra, A. (2013). In vitro studies on alpha amylase and alpha glucosidase inhibitory activities of selected plant extracts. European Journal of Experimental Biology, 3(1), 128-132.
- National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH). (2018). *Traditional Chinese medicine: In depth.* Retrieved on October 2, 2018, from https://nccih.nih.gov/health/whatiscam/chinesemed.htm.
- National Institute of Health. (2017). *Causes of Alzheimer's disease*. Retrieved on October 24, 2018, from https://www.nia.nih.gov/health/what-happens-brain-alzheimers-disease.
- Ng, C., Rahman, M., Abas, & Abas, M. (2016). Heavy metals phyto-assessment in commonly grown vegetables: Water spinach (*I. aquatica*) and okra (*A. esculentus*). SpringerPlus, 5, e469.
- Ngo, T., Scarlett, C. J., Bowyer, M. C., Ngo, P., & Vuong, Q. (2017). Impact of different extraction solvents on bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacity from the root of *Salacia chinensis* L. *Journal of Food Quality, 2017*, e9305047.
- Nichols, L. (2018). *The retention factor (Rf)*. Retrieved on October 2, 2018 from https://chem.libretexts.org/Demos%2C_Techniques%2C_and_Experiments/Org anic_Chemistry_Lab_Techniques_(Nichols)/2%3A_Chromatography/2.2%3A_Thin_Layer_Chromatography_(TLC)/2.2.C%3A_The_Retention_Factor_(%5C(R_f%5C)).
- Niedowicz, D. M., Nelson, P. T., & Murphy, M. M. (2011). Alzheimer's disease: Pathological mechanisms and recent insights. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 9(4), 674-684.
- Nimse, S., & Pal, D. (2015). Free radicals, natural antioxidants, and their reaction mechanisms. *The Royal Society of Chemistry*, *5*, 27986-28006.
- Niño, J., Hernández, J. A., Correa, Y. M., & Mosquera, O. M. (2006, November). In vitro inhibition of acetylcholinesterase by crude plant extracts from Colombian flora. *The Memórias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz*, 101(7), 783-785.
- N. N. A. (2015). A review on the extraction methods use in medicinal plants, principle, strength and limitation. *Medicinal & Aromatic Plants, 4*(3), 1000196.

- Noiraud, N., Maurousset, L., & Lemoine, R. (2001). Transport of polyols in higher plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 39(9), 717-728.
- Nunomura, A., Castellani, R. J., Zhu, X., Moreira, P. I., Perry, G., & Smith, M. A. (2006). Involvement of oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 65(7), 631-641.
- Oboh, G., Agunloye, O. M., Akinyemi, A. J., Ademiluyi, A. O., & Adefegha, S. A. (2013). Comparative study on the inhibitory effect of caffeic and chlorogenic acids on key enzymes linked to Alzheimer's disease and some pro-oxidant induced oxidative stress in rats' brain *in vitro*. *Neurochemical Research*, *38*(2), 413-419.
- Obulesu, M., & Rao, D. (2011). Effect of plant extracts on Alzheimer's disease: An insight into therapeutic avenues. *Journal of Neurosciences in Rural Practice*, 2(1), 56-61.
- Oh, M. H., Houghton, P. J., Whang, W. K., & Cho, J. H. (2004). Screening of Korean herbal medicines used to improve cognitive function for anti-cholinesterase activity. *Phytomedicine*, 20(6), 544-548.
- Okti Herliana, Loekas Soesanto, & Endah Mawadah. (2018). Phytobioremediation of cadmium-contaminated soil using combination of *Ipomoea reptans* Poir and *Trichoderma* sp. and its effect on spinach growth and yield. *Journal of Degraded* and Mining Lands Management, 6(1), 1519-1526.
- Oz, M., Petroianu, G., & Lorke, D. E. (2016). α7-Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: New therapeutic avenues in Alzheimer's disease. *Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor Technologies*, 117, 149-169.
- Paul, R., & Borah, A. (2017). Global loss of acetylcholinesterase activity with mitochondrial complexes inhibition and inflammation in brain of hypercholesterolemic mice. *Scientific Reports*, 7, e17922.
- Pepeu, G., & Giovannini, M. (2017). The fate of the brain cholinergic neurons in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Research*, 1670, 173-184.
- Phisut, N., & Jiraporn, B. (2013). Characteristics and antioxidant activity of Maillard reaction products derived from chitosan-sugar solution. *International Food Research Journal*, 20(3), 1077-1085.
- Picciotto, M. R., Higley, M. J., & Mineur, Y. S. (2012). Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: Cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron*, 76(1), 116-129.
- Pinus Jumaryatno, Lutfi Chabib, Farida Hayati, & Rizki Awaluddin. (2018). Stability study of *Ipomoea reptans* extract self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery system (SNEDDS) as anti-diabetic therapy. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 8(9), 011-014.
- Posadas, I., Ceña, V., & Lôpez-Hernández, B. (2013). Nicotinic receptors in neurodegeneration. *Current Neuropharmacology*, 11(3), 298-314.

- Practicò, D. (2008, December 8). Evidence of oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease brain and antioxidant therapy. *Mitochondria and Oxidative Stress in Neurodegenerative Disorders*, 1147(1), 70-78.
- Prasad, K., Shivamurthy, G., & Aradhya, S. (2008). *Ipomoea aquatica*, an underutilized green leafy vegetable: A review. *International Journal of Botany*, 4(1), 123-129.
- Prasad, N. K., Divakar, S., Shivamurthy, G. R., & Aradhya, S. (2005). Isolation of a free radical-scavenging antioxidant from water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk). *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 85*, 1461-1468.
- Prince, M., Comas-Herrera, A., Knapp, M., Guerchet, M., & Karagiannidou, M. (2016). World Alzheimer report 2016: Improving healthcare for people living with dementia: Coverage, quality and costs now and in the future. London, UK: Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI). Retrieved on October 24, 2018, from https://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2016.pdf.
- Prince, M., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M., Ali, G.-C., Wu, Y.-T., & Prina, M. (2015). World Alzheimer Report 2015. The global impact of dementia an analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. London, UK: Alzheimer's Disease International (ADI). Retrieved on October 24, 2018, from https://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2015.pdf.
- Racchi, M., Mazzucchelli, M., Porrello, E., Lanni, C., & Govoni, S. (2004). Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Novel activities of old molecules. *Pharmacological Research*, 50, 441-451.
- Raditya Febriyono, Yulia Eko Susilowati, & Agus Suprapto. (2017). Peningkatan hasil tanaman kangkung darat (*Ipomoea reptans*, L.) melalui perlakuan jarak tanam dan jumlah tanaman per lubang. *Jurnal Ilmu Pertanian Tropika dan Subtropika*, 2(1), 22-27.
- Raghunath, A., Sundarraj, K., Kanagaraj, V., & Perumal, E. (2018). Plant sources as potential therapeutic for Alzheimer's. In P. Thangaraj (Ed.), *Medicinal plants: Promising future for health and new drugs* (p. 165). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Rane, N. R., Patil, S. M., CHandanshive, V. V., Kadam, S. K., Khandare, R. V., Jadhav, J. P., & Govindwar, S. P. (2016). *Ipomoea hederifolia* rooted soil bed and *Ipomoea aquatica* rhizofiltration coupled phytoreactors for efficient treatment of textile wastewater. *Water Research*, 96, 1-11.
- Rang, H. P., Ritter, J. M., Flower, J. R., & Henderson, G. (2016). *Pharmacology* (8th ed.). London, UK: Churchill Livingstone.
- Rangasamy, K., & Namasivayam, E. (2014). In vitro antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of isolongifolene. Asian Journal of Biological Sciences, 7, 13-23.
- Raskind, M. A., Peskind, E. R., Yuan, W., & Galantamine USA-Study Group. (2000). Galantamine in AD: A 6-month randomized, placebo-controlled trial with a 6month extension. *Neurology*, 54(12), 2261-2268.

- Reddy, P. V. (2015). Organofluorine compounds in biology and medicine. Poland: Elsevier B. V.
- Remya, C., Dileep, K. V., Tintu, I., Variyar, E. J., & Sadasivan, C. (2014). Flavanone glycosides as acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Computational and experimental evidence. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 76(6), 567-570.
- Rose, A. (2018). *IEEA acetylcholinesterase*. Retrieved on October 24, 2018, from http://www.rcsb.org/3d-view/1EEA/1.
- Roseiro, L. B., Rauter, A. P., & Serralheiro, M. M. (2012). Polyphenols as acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: Structural specificity and impact on human disease. *Nutrition and Aging*, 1, 99-111.
- Sánchez-Rangel, J., Benavides, J., Heredia, B. J., Cisneros-Zevallos, L., & Jacobo-Velázquez, D. A. (2013). The Folin–Ciocalteu assay revisited: Improvement of its specificity for total phenolic content determination. *Analytical Methods*, 5, 5990-5999.
- Saha, P., Selvan, V., Mondal, S., Mazumder, U., & Gupta, M. (2008). Antidiabetic and antioxidant activity of methanol extract of *Ipomoea reptans* Poir in aerial parts in streptozin induced diabetic rats. *Pharmcologyonline*, *1*, 409-421.
- Saidin, S., Shafie, F., Mohd Yatim, S., & Ismail, R. (2018). Heavy metals concentration in water convolvulus (*Ipomoea aquatica* and *Ipomoea reptans*) and potential health risk. In R. Saian & M. A. Abbas (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Second International Conference on the Future of ASEAN (ICoFA) 2017*, 839-845.
- Santiago, M., & Strobel, S. (2013). Thin layer chromatography. In J. Lorsch (Ed.), *Methods in enzymology* (pp. 303-324). London, UK: Elsevier Inc.
- Sarkar, R., Jana, J., & Datta, S. (2014). Effect of cutting frequencies and nitrogen levels on growth, green and seed yield and quality of water spinach (*Ipomoea reptans* Poir.). *Applied and Natural Science Foundation*, 6(2), 545-551.
- Scher, J. (2018). *Ipomoea aquatica*. Retrieved on October 4, 2018, from http://keys.lucidcentral.org/keys/FNW/FNW%20seeds/html/large%20image%20 pages/Ipomoea%20aquatica%20li.htm.
- Shim, S.-M. (2012). Comparison of volatile and non-volatile compounds as antioxidant indicators of water spinach (Ipomoea aquatica Forssk.). *Journal of the Korean Society for Applied Biological Chemistry*, 55(2), 297-302.
- Shrivastava, A. K., Patra, S., & Chauhan, D. (2017). Biochemical studies of weed plants used as leafy vegetables by tribes and people of Chhattisgarh with special reference to the secondary metabolites confer nutraceutical properties. *Indian Journal of Applied & Pure Biology*, 32(1), 19-25.
- Sil, S., Ghosh, T., Gupta, P., Ghosh, R., Kabir, S. N., & Roy, A. (2016). Dual role of vitamin C on the neuroinflammation mediated neurodegeneration and memory impairments in colchicine induced rat model of Alzheimer disease. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 60(4), 421-435.

- Sindhi, V., Gupta, V., Sharma, K., Bhatnagar, S., Kumari, R., & Dhaka, N. (2013). Potential applications of antioxidants: A review. *Journal of Pharmacy Research*, 7, 828-835.
- Singh, C., Devi, M., Thokchom, D., M, S., & Singh, A. (2015). Phytochemical screening, estimation of total phenols, total flavonoids and determination of antioxidant activity in the methanol extract of *Dendrobium denudans* D. Don stems. *Journal* of *Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 4(4), 6-11.
- Sivaraman, D., Paneerselvam, P., & Muralidhan, P. (2016). Memory and brain neurotransmitter restoring potential of hydroalcoholic extract of *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk on amyloid beta Aβ (25-35) induced cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's mice. *International Journal of Pharmacology*, 12(2), 52-65.
- Sivaraman, D., Panneerselvam, P., & Muralidharan, P. (2014). Isolation, characterization and *in silico* pharmacological screening of medicinally important bio-active phytoconstituents from the leaves of *Ipomoea aquatica* Forsk. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 6(2), 262-267.
- Smith, M. A., Hirai, K., Hsiao, K., Papolla, M. A., Harris, P. L., Siedlak, S. L., . . . Perry, G. (2002). Amyloid-β deposition in Alzheimer transgenic mice is associated with oxidative stress. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 70(5), 2212-2215.
- Sneddon, J., Masuram, S., & Richert, J. C. (2007). Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry - Basic principles, instrumentation and selected applications for detection of organic compounds. *Analytical Letters*, 40, 1003-1012.
- Stefanova, N. A., Muraleva, N. A., Maksimova, K. Y., Rudnitskaya, E. A., Kiseleva, E., Telegina, D. V., & Kolosova, N. (2016). An antioxidant specifically targeting mitochondria delays progression of Alzheimer's disease-like pathology. *Aging*, 8(11), 2713-2731.
- Strac, D. S., Muck-Seler, D., & Pivac, N. (2015). Neurotransmitter measures in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease: A Review. *Psychiatria Danubina*, 27, 14-24.
- Subash, S., Mohammad Essa, M., Al-Asmi, A., Al-Adawi, S., Vaishnav, R., & Guillemin, G. J. (2014). Effect of dietary supplementation of dates in Alzheimer's disease APPsw/2576 transgenic mice on oxidative stress and antioxidant status. *Nutritional Neuroscience, 18*(6), 281-288.
- Sulaiman, S. F., Abu Bakar Sajak, A., Kheng, L., Supriatno, & Eng, M. (2011). Effect of solvents in extracting polyphenols and antioxidants of selected raw vegetables. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 24*(4-5), 506-515.
- Sultana, B., Anwar, F., & M. A. (2009). Effect of extraction solvent/technique on the antioxidant activity of selected medicinal plant extracts. *Molecules*, 14, 2167-2180.

- Suzuki, Y., Kamijo, Y., Yoshizawa, T., Fujita, Y., Usui, K., & Kishino, T. (2017). Acute cholinergic syndrome in a patient with mild Alzheimer's type dementia who had applied a large number of rivastigmine transdermal patches on her body. *Clinical Toxicology*, 35(9), 1008-1010.
- Swerdlow, R. H., & Kish, S. J. (2002). Mitochondria in Alzheimer's disease. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 53, 341-385.
- Szwajgier, D. (2015). Anticholinesterase activity of selected phenolic acids and flavonoids Interaction testing in model solutions. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine*, 22(4), 690-694.
- Terry, A. V., & Buccafusco, J. J. (2003). The cholinergic hypothesis of age and Alzheimer's disease-related cognitive deficits: Recent challenges and their implications for novel drug development. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 306(3), 821-827.
- The National Institutes of Health (NIH). (2016). *Ayurvedic medicine: In depth.* Retrieved on October 4, 2018, from https://nccih.nih.gov/health/ayurveda/introduction.htm.
- Thi, N., & Hwang, E.-S. (2015). Effects of different cooking methods on bioactive compound content and antioxidant activity of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*). *Food Science Biotechnology*, 24(3), 799-806.
- Thouri, A., Chahdoura, H., El Arem, A., Hichri, A., Hassin, R., & Achour, L. (2017). Effect of solvents extraction on phytochemical components and biological activities of Tunisian date seeds (var. Korkobbi and Arechti). BMC Complementary & Alternative Medicine, 17, e248.
- Tiong, S., Looi, C., Hazni, H., Arya, A., Paydar, M., Won, F., . . . Awang, K. (2013). Antidiabetic and antioxidant properties of alkaloids from *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don. *Molecules*, 18, 9770-9784.
- Tohma, H., Gülçin, İ., Bursal, E., Gören, A. C., Alwasel, S. H., & Köksal, E. (2017). Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds of ginger (*Zingiber officinale* Rosc.) determined by HPLC-MS/MS. Journal of Food Measurement and Characterization, 11(2), 556-566.
- UF / IFAS Center for Aquatic and Invasive Plants. (2018). *Ipomoea aquatica*. Retrieved on October 2, 2018, from https://plants.ifas.ufl.edu/plant-directory/ipomoea-aquatica/.
- Umar, K. J., Hassan, L. G., Dangoggo, S. M., & Ladan, M. J. (2007). Nutritional composition of water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica* Forssk.) leaves. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 7(6), 803-809.
- UMass Center for Agriculture, Food and the Environment. (2016). *Water spinach Ipomoea aquatica*. Retrieved on October 15, 2018, from https://worldcrops.org/crops/water-spinach.

- Valls-Pedret, C., Sala-Vila, A., Serra-Mir, M., Corella, D., de la Torre, R., Martínez-González, M. Á., ... Ros, E. (2015). Mediterranean diet and age-related cognitive decline a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA International Medicine*, 175(7), 1094-1103.
- Vasu, K., Goud, J., Suryam, A., & Singara Charya, M. (2009). Biomolecular and phytochemical analyses of three aquatic angiosperms. *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, 3(8), 418-421.
- Veeresham, C. (2012). Natural products derived from plants as a source of drugs. *Journal* of Advanced Pharmaceutical Technology & Reserach, 3(4), 200-201.
- Verma, S., Kumar, A., Tripathi, T., & Kumar, A. (2018). Muscarinic and nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists: Current scenario in Alzheimer's disease therapy. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 70(8), 985-993.
- Wang, H., Zhu, C., Ying, Y., Luo, L., Huang, D., & Luo, Z. (2018). Metformin and berberine, two versatile drugs in treatment of common metabolic diseases. *Oncotarget*, 9(11), 10135-10146.
- Wang, L., Yang, J., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., Gao, Y., Yuan, J., . . . Ju, X. (2016). Study on antioxidant activity and amino acid analysis of rapeseed protein hydrolysates. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 19(9), 1899-1911.
- Wang, X., Wang, W., Li, L., Perry, G., Lee, H.-g., & Zhu, X. (2014). Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1842(8), 1240-1247.
- Wang, Y., Yin, H., Wang, L., Shuboy, A., Lou, J., Han, B., . . . Li, J. (2013). Curcumin as a potential treatment for Alzheimer's disease: A study of the effects of curcumin on hippocampal expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein. *The American Journal of Chinese Medicine*, 41(1), 59-70.
- Widyawati, P., Budianta, T., Kusuma, F., & Wijaya, E. (2014). Difference of solvent polarity to phytochemical content and antioxidant activity of *Pluchea indicia* less leaves extracts. *International Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemical Research*, 6(4), 850-855.
- Williams, P., Sorribas, A., & Howes, M.-J. (2011). Natural products as a source of Alzheimer's drug leads. *Natural Products Reports, 28*, 48-77.
- Worek, F., Eyer, P., & Thiermann, H. (2012). Determination of acetylcholinesterase activity by the Ellman assay: A versatile tool for *in vitro* research on medical countermeasures against organophosphate poisoning. *Drug Test Analysis*, 4(3-4), 282-291.
- World Health Organisation. (2017). *Dementia*. Retrieved on October 23, 2018, from http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia.
- Xiang, J., Yu, C., Yang, F., Yang, L., & Ding, H. (2009). Conformation-activity studies on the interaction of berberine with acetylcholinesterase: Physical chemistry approach. *Progress in Natural Science*, 19(12), 1721-1725.

- Yadav, R., & Agarwala, M. (2011). Phytochemical analysis of some medicinal plants. *Journal of Phytology*, 3(12), 10-14.
- Yar, M., Muhammad, A., Farooq, A., Gilani, M., Ayub, K., Ejaz, A., . . . Ninomiya, I. (2015). Synthesis and DPPH scavenging assay of reserpine analogues, computational studies and *in silico* docking studies in AChE and BChE responsible for Alzheimer's disease. *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 51(11), 53-61.
- Yoo, H., Widhalm, J. R., Qian, Y., Maeda, H., Cooper, B. R., Jannasch, A. S., . . . Dudareva, N. (2013). An alternative pathway contributes to phenylalanine biosynthesis in plants via a cytosolic tyrosine: Phenylpyruvate aminotransferase. *Nature Communications*, 4, e2833.
- Zengin, G., Uysal, S., Ceylan, R., & Aktumsek, A. (2015). Phenolic constituent, antioxidative and tyrosinase inhibitory activity of *Ornithogalum narbonense* L. from Turkey: A phytochemical study. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 70, 1-6.
- Zhang, H., & Tsao, R. (2016). Dietary polyphenols, oxidative stress and antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, *8*, 33-42.
- Zhang, Z.-X., Hong, Z., Wang, Y.-P., He, L., Wang, N., Zhao, Z.-X., . . . Strohmaier, C. (2016). Rivastigmine patch in Chinese patients with probable Alzheimer's disease: A 24-week, randomized, double-blind parallel-group study comparing rivastigmine patch (9.5 mg/24 h) with capsule (6mg twice daily). CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 22, 488-496.
- Zhao, X., Zheng, X., Fan, T.-P., Li, Z., Zhang, Y., & Zheng, J. (2015). A novel drug discovery strategy inspired by traditional medicine philosophies. *Science*, 347, 38-40.
- Zhou, H., Beevers, C. S., & Huang, S. (2011). The targets of curcumin. *Current Drug Targets, 12*(3), 332-347.